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Financial Section Five-Year Summary
IIBHICHT LA &t
years ended March 31 EVE]
Millions of Yen
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
HX (Comit ZAMENE : For the Year
21, SERNEMIET — 2 21. Five Years Sammary FlE Net sales ¥122,990 ¥132,731 ¥145,440 ¥136,172 ¥142,156
22, BAFLE 21— 23. Financial Review
26. EiEEEIIER 42. Consolidated Balance Sheets R L Operating income 1,907 5,923 16,232 10,064 10,715
28, EiEBIEtEE 44. Consolidated Statements of Income
20. EEMIEStESE 45. Consolidated Statements Ofshareholders’ Equity TR 2 Ordinary income 2,110 4,969 15,026 9,299 10,118
30. EiEXvv a1 JO—EtEE 46. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
31, EREEFREFRDEED 47. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements L HA KR 25 Net income 1,151 2,149 6,853 2,772 2,979
41, DRAESETDEEESREE 57. Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants
58. ErfxifRs 70. Non-Consolidated Balance Sheets ROE Return on equity 1.5% 2.7% 8.0% 3.0% 3.2%
. BstEE 72. Non-Consolidated Statements of Income
| MEEostas 73. Non-Consolidated Statements Ofshareholders’ Equity —WH7z0 : Per share data
. BiFsEROET 74. Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
. AREEHDEEE LS 80. Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants K 25 Net income ¥ 7.87 ¥ 1447 ¥ 4404 ¥ 1690 ¥ 17.65
o
Bic 24 4 Cash dividends 8.00 8.00 10.00 10.00 10.00
SAMHEEAR © Atyear-end
B Tortal assets ¥219,150 ¥219,200 ¥228,581 ¥220,890 ¥213,296
BAREE Sharcholder’s equity 74,833 79,299 92,432 92,737 94,039
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Financial Review

Economic Conditions in Japan

During fiscal 2002, the year ended March 31, 2003, the
Japanese economy remained sluggish despite signs of
recovery in exports and several production indices. The
economic environment reflected little improvement in
civil-sector investment, a weak employment situation and
stagnant wages, and a decline in stock prices. These nega-
tive conditions were compounded by the instability of the

domestic financial community and lingering deflation.

Changes in Demand for Paper

In the paper and pulp industry, prices for printing paper
and paperboard fell in the first half of the year, whereas
prices for printing paper products expanded, especially for
coated paper products. Raw material expenses were nega-
tively affected by a rise in the price of heavy oil due to the
war in Iraq and a rapid increase in prices for used paper, a

main raw material for paperboard.

Results of Operations

Amid a severe operating environment, the sales volume of
the Hokuetsu Paper Mills Group’s mainstay paper and
paperboard products increased year over year but average
prices fell. Our groupwide efforts resulted in net sales of
¥142,156 million for the year ended March 31, 2003, an
increase of ¥5,984 million or 4.4% year over year. We
almost attained the cost-cutting targets set forth in our
“Step-up 217 (§-21) management plan. Operating
income for fiscal 2002 expanded ¥651 million or 6.5% to
¥10,715 million, and ordinary income rose ¥820 million
or 8.8% to ¥10,118 million. Influenced by a considerable
decline in the Company’s stock price, net income was
¥2,979 million, up ¥207 million or 1.3%, mainly owing
to a write-down of investments in securities of ¥4,060
million (an increase of ¥1,478 million against a loss of

¥2,584 million for the previous fiscal year).

Performance by Business Segment

Pulp and Paper Manufacturing

In printing paper, following price declines in the first half
that continued from the previous fiscal term, prices
improved in the second half mainly for wood-free paper
and coated paper. As a result of further quality improve-
ment, increased customization to meet user requests and
efforts focused on the development and sale of new prod-
ucts, positive results were achieved for production and
sales. Although sales volume increased 10.1% to 906,000
tons, sales rose only 5.9% to ¥92,299 million, as the
price declines in the first half of the term could not be
fully offset.

In paperboard, domestic sales increased mainly owing
to a recovery in demand for mainstay paper cartons in the
food industry. With the decline in prices, however, sales
of total paperboard increased only 1.0% year over year to
¥28,040 million, although sales volume rose 5.3% to
305,000 tons.

As a result, net sales for the Pulp and Paper Manufac-
turing Division grew ¥6,275 million or 5.2% year over
year to ¥125,854 million. Operating income advanced
¥586 million or 6.7% to ¥9,363 million. A negative effect
on operating income of ¥4.8 billion due to a worsening
product mix and lower average sales prices was largely off-
set by enhanced production efficiency and an increase in
production and sales volumes of ¥4.4 billion, a ¥0.6 bil-
lion reduction in purchasing materials and a ¥0.4 billion
decline in selling expenses, thereby making a rise in profit

of approximately ¥0.6 billion.

Paper Processing

In paper processing, sales grew ¥687 million or 6.7% year
over year to ¥10,930 million and operating income
surged ¥256 million or 78.0% to ¥585 million. Our
focus on high-value-added paper processing products and
active proposal-type marketing to the dairy industry

attributed to these favorable increases in sales and profit.
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Cash Flows

Consolidated cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
year ended March 31, 2003, totaled ¥6,776 million, an
increase of ¥2,373 million year over year. The increase
was the result of free cash flow, the difference between
cash flows from operating activities and cash flows from
investing activities (mainly consisting of the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment), expanding ¥8,894 mil-
lion or 675.8% year over year to ¥10,210 million and
exceeding cash flows from financing activities, which con-
sisted of such factors as the repayment of long-term loans

and the redemption of straight bonds.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Income before income taxes and minority interests edged
up ¥520 million to ¥5,467 million owing principally to a
loss on the write-down of investments in securities of
¥4,059 million (against a loss of ¥2,583 million for the
previous fiscal year) resulting from a sharp decline in the
Company’s stock price. Net cash provided by operating
activities increased because the loss on the write-down of
investments in securities is classified as a non-fund trans-
action. Moreover, income taxes paid in cash (payments for
the previous fiscal year and the interim period of the year
under review) decreased ¥5,843 million to ¥1,296 million.
As a result of these factors, net cash provided by operating
activities increased ¥11,608 million to ¥26,318 million.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

The main uses of cash were ¥13,791 million for the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment, an increase
of ¥1,237 million or 9.9% year over year, including the
installation of related facilities for the No. 6 paper
machine at the Nagaoka Mill and the construction of the
No.8 recovery boiler at Niigata Mill, and ¥2,541 million
for the acquisition of investments in securities, an increase
of ¥1,949 million or 328.3% year over year. As a result,
net cash used in investing activities increased ¥2,714 mil-
lion to ¥16,108 million.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Primarily owing to a decline in interest-bearing debt, net
cash used in financing activities increased ¥4,086 million
to ¥7,820 million.
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Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Led. 27



MR THAE AT S

LR BLRR A

20034F, 20024 L U20014E3 H31H % b o THT L7141

T TR PV (FERL
2003 2002 2001 2003
e k| (GERC10K TN14) ¥142,156  ¥136,172  ¥145,440 $1,182,662
e LJEAIE (7:E210) 111,351 108,210 111,589 926,381
DI Y| EmS 30,805 27,962 33,851 256,281
Wi oo e B OF— A Pt 20,090 17,898 17,619 167,138
BRI 10,715 10,064 16,232 89,143
ZDMoINE (BH):
ORI B OV 24 4 278 312 259 2,313
SCALF) (1,272) (1,491) (1,708) (10,582)
R & B BRI 45 35 171 374
AMFEAEEAE (FB) (i) 2 (0) (58) 17
B BAT i REZ AT (4,060) (2,584) (171) (33,777)
5] o 1 7 B R (594) (1,142) (794) (4,942)
TV 7 2 B MERFAE (8) (23) (170) (67)
BIEY A Qe AT St — — (1,952) —
B B LB A — (681) — —
Z oAl Ghla) 361 457 96 3,003
(5,248) (5,117) (4,327) (43,661)
Tl 4 S iy 24 H AR 4% 5,467 4,947 11,905 45,482
BABL, ERBIR OB (71509):
AR 3,446 1,673 6,679 28,669
TR IEBEZE (1,018) 433 (1,718) (8,469)
2,428 2,106 4,961 20,200
A ROk T A SR A i 2 SRR 2% 3,039 2,841 6,944 25,282
DR R 60 69 91 498
B R RIEAS ¥ 2979 ¥ 2772 ¥ 6,853 $ 24,784
M KR (FERLD
2003 2002 2001 2003
BR%S 720 Wk (ERc1):
1RRY 72 1) 24 HRHEF) 4% ¥17.65 ¥16.90 ¥44.04 $0.15
BRI PR IR 2 72 1) S AR 2% — — — —
IFEY 72 0 Bl 4 10.00 10.00 10.00 0.08

B AR SO MR B RO BRI ERETH 2.

BB St 28

MRS PR A5 SRR

bR B R A

20034, 20024F JL UO20014E3 H31H % b o THE T L7145/

HHH
Z DAWAT MFE
(W BARSE: LEARUE G 4 FILR A 42 R ZEAR 4 F O
2000447 1H 151,456,376 ¥23,307  ¥20,941 ¥35,052 P ¥ (1)
VR 2 — — — 6,853 — —
HOHROFEE (i%H) — — — — — 0
B4 (1#k2472 1 8.501H) — — — (1,303) — —
Ik % M OV A i — — — (82) — —
HRRD |2 HEDATE (7RE 6) 12,595,678 3,514 4,153 — — —
WAET-2 OGS & BB RE S D — — — ) — —
200143 H31H 164,052,054 26,821 25,094 40,518 — 1)
I Es — 2,772 — —
Z OAA MHFE SR O BRI REAG 2 B 5 4 2EHE D ER — — — — (646) —
HOHRoOmA Gilig) — — — — — (6)
fiar (#2729 10.00M9) — — — (1,641) — —
WUk 5% B OVBE A1 B — — — (101) — —
B S ORI E I X B DK — — — (73) — —
20024331 H 164,052,054 26,821 25,094 41,475 (646) 7)
[ CERs ey — — — 2,979 — —
Z DA MRESR O G 22 FE 4 D5 1F — — — — 234 —
HUOHR OB A (%) — — — — — (181)
B4 (1#R2472 1 10.001) — — — (1,640) — —
B 1% e OSEEATAR B - — — — (90) — —
200343731 H 164,052,054  ¥26,821  ¥25,094  ¥42,724 ¥(412) ¥(188)
Tk PV (EEREL)
Z OABA MRE S
Rl BARE: BARUE S 4 Fll sl 42 4 REMZEAR 4 A5
200243 H31H 164,052,054  $223,136  $208,769  $345,049 $(5,374) $ (59)
E iU e — — — 24,784 — —
Z O MFES: O S A2 40 4 D5 IE — — — — 1,946 —
HOHR oA (%) — — — — — (1,506)
Bo4 4 (1/2%7200.08K KoL) _— — — (13,644) — —
Uk 1% R OS5 — — — (748) — —
200343 H31H 164,052,054 $223,136  $208,769  $355,441 $(3,428)  $(1,564)

fIBES 2 ERCIE SN S AN B RO B AL E L TH b,

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd. 29



+- w o~ . —=
HWAEF Yy v - 7u—FlaE
Je bk 21t
20034F, 20024 L U20014E3 H31H % b o THT L7141

HH Tk PV (Eic)
2003 2002 2001 2003

BERPICEEIFy vy T2 70—
Tl 4 S e iy 24 S AR 2% ¥ 5,467 ¥ 4,947 ¥11,905 $ 45,482
HEii=esIE 13,937 14,091 12,923 115,948
AAMREZRFE ML GRi%R) 2 0 58 17
BB ATl RE ST TE 4,060 2,584 171 33,777
] 56 B R ANE 594 1,142 794 4,942
SR E R OVRE 24 42 (278) (312) (259) (2,313)
LALFIE 1,272 1,491 1,708 10,582
5 HEMED () A 6,042 2,768 (11,249) 50,266
WENEE D (Bghn) A% (45) (1,365) 980 (374)
fEAEB OB (W) 4 (3,503) (3,065) 5,979 (29,143)
BT 2L 4 ( rk&) i 356 663 2,660 2,962
5 EGRRRE ST 4 [ i () #E 170 (329) 286 1,414
Z oAb (Ghtige) 491 418 (1,001) 4,086
/NEE 28,561 23,033 24,955 237,612
) B K OVBE 24 4 0 52 HUAE 308 342 284 2,562
SIS EIN:| (1,255) (1,526) (1,785) (10,440)
LN EADEEIN (1,296) (7,139) (1,9406) (10,782)
EERBO OBy V2 - 7 — (HiH) 26,318 14,710 21,508 218,952

REWHICEI2F vy - 70—
EMTHGEOTE A L AN (93) (130) (1,222) (774)
EMTHE DRI X BIA 94 223 1,261 782
AAMRESR M O He G A liREZ: OB & 5 3 (2,542) (593) (3,608) (21,148)
FAFES M P& A EEAR DTN X A IUA 586 2 121 4,875
HIEE RO L 53 H (13,791)  (12,554) (6,510) (114,734)
HILE L DTN L BIUA 68 172 139 566
Z O (HiEE) (430) (514) (781) (3,577)
BEEHEA L% vy o - 70— (Ji%) (16,108)  (13,394)  (10,600) (134,010)

MBI L AF vy a2 - 70—
%Eﬁﬂ%fdﬁ:%%@mi%m (i) 4 (5,400) 5,302 (2,657) (44,925)
EHHALICE AR 13,400 6,600 1,550 111,481
FEHIf }\j’:@L(H ; 5 (9,132) (8,975) (18,209) (75,973)
HEFH PR B AL O W& AIUA 10,000 — 10,000 83,195
SEAE O AL AR @1%‘;?%’ c: X B (15,000) (5,000) — (124,792)
AA R T T VR | Z AT E ORI L B3 — — (9,379) —
PkD | ZHEDATHELC & A IUA —_ — 7,003 —
il 2 4 0 3 146 (1,639) (1,641) (1,302) (13,636)
Z oAt (Ffi4E) (50) (1) 9) (417)
WHIEENCEH L% v v 2 - 7a— (#i%H) (7,821) (3,735)  (13,003) (65,067)
Bl B O BLE ISR AR 5 i 240 (16) 12 36 (133)
HER CHERFWoORMm (L) #i 2,373 (2,407) (2,059) 19,742
HE K OBLE RS o W 5% 4,403 6,810 8,868 36,631
PIBLEAS IR 9 BLE T OB & ) 5 o B 4 — — 1 —
HE R OCHERFYOWAERS (Fil2) ¥ 6,776 ¥ 4,403 ¥ 6,810 $ 56,373

IS B iERLIE SN S B RO EE LR TH 5,

e RS 30

MRS W B A R DR

bR BGHR A

L U B RN BR D 720 DIEA & 7 5 5L
(a) MRS B AR DR

JeBR AR (DU, “4H7) RO &4
. WEROCHAO SRR ICHER L 72 FEEICL D,
KEPLHEEZIT o T E T, HRIZBWT—HICRIEZ
LEEOOLNTWDEFIHER R, BB
HERDHNETEF SN TWLZENLE, W DO9D
HTRZoTWET, o T, AiE DL EKE M Bk
I, HEROSFHAECRM SN EREFIHT 2 H
TR ENTnwES,

BB O HAE M B R IE, HARDXFIHIEMEIZ X -
TR S 1, FERIG E O FFBIC L ) B BE O & it
BRI SN dE M BHEE TR, BIRL2)
DTY (—HOBIMWELE & R EFDFHREEOMER %
GATWET), HARFEOMFEM BHERICRE I N TV
5 —iOMENZERD ) b, WIEREKROBIT LD
FIRDSLET v O, RO 3EEFM B & 12
RSN TB) T A,

WM BHEELERT S 12H70 ., BARMD S KE
ROV~ OZHIZ, 20034FE3 A 31 H 2B 1T 2 5KE L~
DML — F, ¥120.20/$1.00 HATB I b T
WIS, KE FVOFIRIT, 5 10 L Y3 # 7%
FEEIVHEMLTLS ) 20IETEZ o720 b DT

0. HARMOERRMAL R LR L — b TKE
RV R A 2 L 2R L2 DTIEH ) THA,

(b) M DHEPH

WM BRI, YR EToTat (DT, “Y
NV —T") OB R A L, B ERE S A
H OGO S O R Ekem 4%
L TR L TWwES,

BB EBROMIFH 72> Tid, XREHHIZBW
T, PR L7aNIcR 2 Fatto g R aMg (D%
HEFHSEED) ZAERFHEIC X VI L, #E
PERR & AL BRSNS O MBI R R ICFR I N T
WD TR EE L O, EAEREE L L T54E
B CHEEHNL T ET,

200343 H31HZ b o TR T LAKXFIHFEICBWT
(E GHIRA S R ORISR RS T T B M T
oL, HoEEr#EAL T REwWEF—ZA T THEA
SHRE =2 =Y =T v FEASH2HZBRELETOH
HAICR R EA L T E T,

20024E J. U20014E3 H31H % b » TH T L 72 &FTHH M
B W TIE, BRI LS S OGRS R 8 1 RT3
ﬁﬁ%f%é% Bodz#EllLcvnwivnoa—v—
7Y FEAESH IR AR EETORMEAICHSE %
JHLTWwWIE T,

JAE - RO O3 o B S B3 DU o 9
DTY,

S
2003 2002 2001
LR 10 13 14
4o P B e 2 A 6 6 5

zmﬁmﬂma%éofﬁTLtéﬂiﬁifL%%
Wik L, EETAHTH o BIIAM T¥EGRD. ik
ﬁ%%z7d® 7 + LA PERORV < F ¥k
(FR)1d. 20024E4 H 1HAF CAEBARE BT v 7 (B & i &2
HELTEPLE L, A RORHIE. 200244 H 1
HfFCTERAL#EE 7 + L A MICHA T LB L F L7,
ERBASE ) I, 2002453 H29H & b - TR S L F
L7zo LEBASEERIE, 20T H T CHiEMBREZRIC
EFINTBYET,

20024FE3 H29H IZ Gt o B &t & L CReL s 7z
FROFEE = — 2 —1d, 20024E3H31H% b > TRT
L72&EHEE X DV E D ErEH N TB Y 7,
20004E3H31H Z b o TH | L7 RFHEEIC B W TH
Gy I BE ST o AR 7 =y (R)1d. 20004
67 1 H I T2 T o 72 (k) ALK ET 2 WAt
L. 20024E K U20014E3 A31H % b » TR T L - &EHE
XD EME TR THLH)T 7 /eI A 2 BH L
L7

(c) WiHi¥ vy v o 70—35RH

HWiEF Yy v o - T —EtEFICBITL2BERTH
SRE%EIE, FoB4., FERGI S LT 2ES R
IS H 22537 A DAICERIAR 0 25k 3 2 &2
5% ET,

(d) #HEGEEE O HA P~ # 5

HOR R S EEE B YR L - P CIREL T
BYFF, 2000410 X Y miid, HWAEEREY&HE
MEEBIIHUSREF -3 EKoO L - FTRELTB Y
9,

M7 — FIE A ESFIER S A1999F10 A 22 H 12

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Led. 31



ANFELT-YIER OV E BRI | S aar e [H VR ERG
FERFHUEEREOWETICHE T 2 BEAE] £2000F4 71
HICERALFE L7, ZoFlEICLY, HEERHERK
BHEEBOMAEHL - P TIRELTBY 7,
200143 H31HZ S o TR T LRXFHEEIZB W T,
SR DAME R |5 S EH L IR HE O # 12 & % R4
NDOHEIH ) T A,

(e) A il 75 o A 3% i

Lt 7V — 71E, EREFESD999FE 1 22H 12
RNELH L WAEHARE [SRlvEmICtR 2 S5t A%ED
REICHETAERE] #20000F4 1HICERHL T L7,

PFrEEABEAT AR, ETORHIEZOEED
HEIcBWCTEAMESRORAH W% B L, Ak
FrRROMEHICK S LI R ) $8 A, (a) FHl
DEECL VR 2B L2 HWE L TIRET2A
filigE % (DLF. “SeEH BRAMEES") . (b) Wil £ T
AT 5HMOMES (LT, “WRAHMOMES) . (o)
Ttk - BE AR KO, (d) Eiowdhn
WHhEFTNRVAMGES (LT, “ZoMAMIESR") -
7272 L. 20034E, 20024F J UN20014E3 H31H % & - TH&E
TLZERHMEE BT, Eig (a) OAMES % 4
HLTBYFHA, F72, 20034E3H31HZ b - THRT
L7-&RHMEEICB W TIE, Bt (b) OFfEEA% A
LTBY EFHA,

i AR A EH 1Y 5 2538 H B A e IR 2R 2 EF L
LTwE ¥, Fpomddbdi i Bt pkUid, BErY
G2 & D B EERICE LT ET,

T AR A H 1Y O S K O % O A i FIE 25 0 Bl 5%
LR L2 E1C1E. SR MFE 2 (R © B
HERIZET R, Wefili & Al & D ZFIT 2 O WM 08
Jeb UCRBAR SN E 3o KRl 0 70 A 250 1318 0 Rl 7
OIEUARRE & A N5 SR 2 PR L - &8 CEIE
WECEFELTBY £9, FHoE@fEESH 2R E,
B O 22 WARIN O E AN L <A L 7234121,
MFEMRAUTE -G £ TR S L, JFInd 5 e xR
RELTHMLET, 29 LABAITIE, Rk EE
AR AR OREMA & 2 ) 37,

20014F3J31H%Z b o TH T L2 KXFHEEICB T 54
BT CAR 2 BT REH RO IC L ) | BlaEiREn
VAR I PER D F IS & o A I, 1,913F
THZ R EsnTwE 4, 72, 20004645 1H (
HEHEE) WAECH SR LETEHNTA2BICRET LA
iEZ O RA B &2 fa L. il iea o sk o
Z OMAMRES: D 9 HIAEK H 2> & 14ELLNIZ T 253 5k
T2501, MEEEOIIZED., £ 56 DILo A
AER I EZOMOEEICEDTVET,

e Rtk R 32

20014E4 H1H & V. Z DA MFES IR 0 o Bl
TEMEFICEN B L. Rl & BUSEAR & o 246 138
BETER LRI, BEROEOMEH & L TR
SNTWE T, ZOMARES DT B IR BT
JEAfiEIC & D EE L TWET,
20024F3H31IHZ S o THT L7-AFHEEICBWT
(. 2 DOAA Al FE 2 O e EFAilli 12 BE 3 % 5 e & B A
L7zZ &ick ), 2 oA MaEsar i 22404, #RER
SEENDCDVBRERSD?, TNEN646E T, 472
AHM, 0F MR EE N TEBY £9,

(f) BGINE
BHEGILAEIFEEOBRRINIC X 2HRIMHR 5720,
ERARAFIZL 2BABHOEID, A DEHEIZONT
NI AR R IAHZ G L Cal EL T,

(g) BN 72 0D Al ik 48
WIENE PE T DU EAG TR E L T 97, B, 5
By HPEn 12 B LTI A BRI EE IS & 2 Uik &
B e A X B L2 R L TwE T,
. KRB B OWGE HAEYE IZB LTI BRI X 25
liEZHRA LTI T,

(h) 4378 & 0 SFA 1L 18 Be OV A B 50 5 %

A & E RIS EMCEF L L TwE T, BHo
FEW) R S L35 25 S LT\ B X0 7 HLE 3R A T
RT3 Bk i DAL O B 8 e OV R B T35 125kl &
T\ B MEHEAC L S e i 3F OV vE ABL e B 12 RE v,
19984F4 F 1 H DABERUS: U 72 5 1 &tk o0 @l o i fifi &
HMAFIEFETH Y . (EEIHEITE AR
AERICL > T, LA OB TEEE &L,
FEABEICED CIHFEIC LD ERFEICTENL T
WE T BRENE FE O B IE A K OV AT E R BT
T & D SFIRE 2 S B, BRIEEZ T ERE
WEMEE LONMEIEH & L TE L T ET,

20024F3H31HZ b o TR T L-REHEEICB W T,
WA HTE T 0 )L 7 8 E e L ORI 5 ik i O
AP 5 T % L R 1 & R A 0 AR O TR AE 2K
=T 5 L) BIEICEST 572010, BHENOE
FRICERLTWE T, COLFIZLY ., 200245331
HZ b o THRT L72XRFHEEEIZ B\ C i1 £ % 1%
1,556 65 /7 I3 L 55 SER) 3 T OV 46 565 5 2 iy 224 )
Flasid, sz a31giMELs L TwE g,

BEAE D \ AN S 472 5 fil M OV FH 4R 0% 291
WS LHITERWLZE E LT T, Mg, &
K N O DA PO RE IS BRI CB I & LT T,

i) 774F VA=A

V= AW OFEHESEEICBIZT 2 L0
Lo T4 F A )= RIFF L =T 1
7 )= AEFUFEICTERFHLE L TV ES,

() BEERAIISE

WAt 7 — FIIHEEB OB I 2 T, 28 OB
KEAT IR 2 30T T Ka5kEE, Bk AR RO T oAl
DERZEEL T, MEEB OB IGERK &L
BREETTRL T T, BRE-KE&IH AN TN
TTHBY ., BEESIIIHTREEEHAESIC D
3,

ERETFERSDTN998E6H16H ICAK L2 L\vax
AHAE [DRIARTH IR 2 REH RO R E ICH T 5 B
2| Z20004E4H1HIZHEA L F L7,

L WAFHEE L, BRASAHER R BB H
E—FDRELX A L -FEEHHEEFRICEOSWTEE
ENTnET,

MEEBOBBRTICH A D720, Y7V — T35
FHEEERIC BT 2 BBAGHEF S UNF S & 7 O FaAKH
20 S B IR AL OB I 4 & %251 L L
TWwWEd,

BB ERE DD B, 20004E4 7 1 H BUE D AE &M
DN IEATE K O IR H BAE CHRBER T o R & L CaF L
ENTW/-SHEBET 580 (LU, “ARMHEMEEH
MR 5”) 21,9528 T L7z, AFIEMEL TR R,
20014E3H31H%Z & o T T L7 RFHEEICBWT, —
RRICEFEME LCEELTVwET,

FEFIEEOEAIC LY . EROSEIHEEY A L
7o L HRTL 200143 H31IH % b o TH#T L 725
EFEOBRARTE 132,023 F ML, Bléesix
B2 AR 25 132,025 F T HEA L TwE 9,

(k) 15 B R 5 &5 124 &

L7V — TR e OB AR O BB 2 T
BRE S ERE 2T T, AWM O SEFERE, EE
FHB BTNV — T ~OHEHREZ &4 2 OO ER
T Z L CHUR 3 M OV AT 0B ke 1R IR 7 & %
SCtE LT B 1% fr OV AL BB I o7 & 12§
B REMLIEE L CIE, RETHE R B 15 f OB A A
SRR L 72 EME LG E Il LB E & biaftEH
4KV — T ORE TERE L2 D100% & 15 2B K
Br&s44es LTS TTwEd,

(D) HAEFEATE B RS IT A2 4
HEOEITRE MG, AR HERLLL VI,
AA AT T IR HER RS | AR O FEAT A 1S

DWW CIIFATHICEERT L L. ST HE» S EEA
FCTOMMIZXIE L T20014E3H31H £ T2 TEAL
TwWET,

(m) FYNT 4 TG &Ny V&5

20014F3H31H%Z & o TH T L7CKREHEEL S EH S
N7 MR IR L ARFHEREICL), Ay VHBT
&N TWD S DOLUSD T ) NTF 1 7 % Bl T 2FA
L. BflioZ#)#8% & LT T 5 2 L2l s h
F L7,

TIVNT 4 TRy Ve LTHEHEN—EDNY T
BEEM 2 THEICIE, Ny U RITR B IRE AR
ENAHFEFTOMME, TUNT 4 TOBMOEEH» 5 4
L 2182 D8Rk & MIER TV E 77,

72, EMAT Y ThEANy VELTHHEER, —%
DNy VEMEmITIHAICIE. ATy TRHEDOERE
FREBICRAFTICEF ATy A2 YT 5
MF-ofizEEINE T 2 3EELTwET,

(n) ENBES

Wik b — 7 BB AT H 00 & B 2R M OE
P BB - B — R B R R L T
VET, FIAFEEC LU, A LB
S R SRR % BE0E1C L AR ORI
ESNET, BHATHGLHBRAEHOECD S
B BB - ARO—BERO ) bEREBRT 55
FASH LT, - AET T 0TS L ) IR A%
i BRI NE T,

(o) HRHITBE R OB 5

HURi B B OB BB G IR ERZOKRRIZL D £
PZALC D T SN RFHEE OB AR B0 & L
TREENT T,

(p) 1BRS 729 Kk

1BR24 72 D) 24 R 2 12 5847 R o B v 3 %0
HOWTEHHRINTVE T, 20014E3H31H % b o T
TLZRFHEEIZOWTIX, A4 A7 T v iEGEER
PR | S2 A SR S 727280, 20034F [z U200245:3
H31H%Z b o> THRT LIREHEREICD W TIX, BIEK
KO L 2\ 728 WTERSER B 1 IR 24 72 1 4 BTt
FIEom#z LTwnEHEA,

20024F4 H1H & 0 [sERatiiES2s 14720 4
WIAER A 2 B3 5 &t HEE ] (20024F9 H25H 3 &E!
HMERRR) RO [ EH R4S 1Y
720 BIARAER IC B 2 RETAME OB H TR ET] (200245
9H25H ¥RFHAMERAES) 2#EALTVWE T,

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd. 33



[F] & BT HLHE K O%E I F6 81 % 20024E K US20014E3 A 31 H
b o TR T L-RRHERICE L7258 O1k4 721
HRIZOWTIE, DT ) T3,

2002 2001

TRR2Y 72 1) M EH AR 2% ¥16.38  ¥43.57
EIEAR T 12 /R 2 72 1) 4 A0 2 — —

RE 72D BCY i3, BETRICEDSERINTS
D, BESHEERRIOKESINBEIFHEEICEY SN
HEHEZATOIT,

(q) B OB T OV HE N 4 D UL IS B 9~ % Xt 3k
HEDEH
WV — T, 20024E4H1H £ 0 [k 3E0E
F15 B O O Wil O HUR S5 12 B 4 5 xFT 3
#] (20024F2 21 H RERFHHEEZER) Z#HL T
BYET, TOETIZEI20034FE3A31IHE D - THRT
Lo XFHEE oSBT B HF I 5 2 5083, B
Thh)FET,

(r) #EEH O RHR OHb

WA BRI, BARICBWT—RICAIERY E7E
6N L RFHEMEICER L TER SN TB Y, KFH#
EIZEREFOEE LML ) LHFEZEIN TV E
To Mo T, WREZD ) 2FERVYUFAML Y LR
LhENH ) £,

(s) K DHIF

L R L LURT O G M B R O FiE DY, 4k
T RFHEEOEMEM BHEDOIIRICERT 5 L9 10E
RIEHMBEEINThE23008H) T3, 2o OB
DIRTIC RS U7 B R & 72 3Rk 30 1 & 22
RIFTLDOTED Y THA,

Z DA MEES:
VL)
2003
T B 52
X 55 Ul e ] %
7S
LR B FRET I
FEDNISEU % 48 2
5HD ¥2,055 ¥2,351 ¥296
RSB IR IR
ZE SIS B 2 768 2
ARE D) 7,414 6,469 (945)
¥9469  ¥8,820 ¥(649)
EViE)
2002
A RS
By U A At %
PR
LR B B SRR I
DS EUG % 48 2.
5HD ¥ 4468 ¥ 5398 ¥ 930
RSB B FEET I
FADSHUSIEG % 8 2
ARE D) 9,135 7,051 (2,084)
¥13,603 ¥12,449 ¥(1,154)
TXK KL
2003
S RS
By WU A At %
PR
JHURE B B SRR I
DS EUG % 48 2.
5HD $17,096  $19,559 $ 2,463
RSB B FEET I
FEDSHUASIEG % 8 2
ARE D) 61,681 53,819 (7,862)

878,777 $73,378 $(5,399)

20034F K U20024E3 H 31 HIRAE D, A D 7 WA fliE
FrDONE N O B IR LR FAIZ L Mo ) T,
(a) WA HY DR

e 2— B R OBIE NS - i
20034F J U20024F3 A31 HHAEIC BT 2 @A EEASH 2003 o0 2003
KOWMERHTH L “BlEeTHae” LEiEFyy oo - S g ¥-  ¥1500 $-
70 —gEEEO “BERCHRAERSY ZU T L
BY—HLFET, (b) Z D fi A fili k5
TiAH TR FL T FREN
2003 2002 2003 [k 2003 2002 2003
AT ¥6,934 Y4562  $57,687 ik ¥1,000 ¥ - $ 8319
W3 BB EMHE S (158) (159) 1,314)  JEEGRR 4,663 2,171 38,794
4 T OB AR ¥6,776  ¥4,403  $56,373

Rl 3— AR

20034F Jz U20024F3 H 31 HHAE D, Wi D & % A fiffiziE
TR\ BE 9 B U, S B A BT B DT
DM TY,

BB ST 34

20034F K U20024E3 A31 HIRAE D, HARA Ha o &
HDOAEEDOERTEHEIILLTOME) T,

M Tk Fv
X455 2003 2002 2003
WARA B O
SR
SAEB104E LI ¥-  ¥1,500 $-

20034} U20024E3 A31HBIED . D ftig ihiEE Ao
L OE R T EHIILTO®mY T,

HAM FK R
X455 2003 2002 2003
Z DIWAHRES
SR E
SERBI0E DA ¥1,000 ¥ - $8,319

20034F3H31IH%Z b o THT L= KRFHEREICTRA L 7-
Z OAAEEAR DT84 HH (699T-K Fv) T,
FERE K OFEHBEO GEHHIZ, FhEh27E (225
TR V) RO0EH (0FKFv) TL7z, 200243
H31H%Z b o THRT LREHEE BT 5 Z oA i
FEHOFEHVE K OGEHIEIR IZ, EE TR W/ oREk L
TBH FHA, 20014E3H31H% & » THT L72RXEHE
JEWZTEHN L 72 oA MRS O e KA IX 1795 T,
FHLE K OSEEME O ARHEIZ, FNEN3E TH R UN62
HHHTL 2,

20034F3/J31H % & o THET L 72 RFHERIZEAI L 72
WA B DR O FEHE N FEHIEMIE, 2hZ
4756 (3,952 T K Fv) KU500E 5 (4,160T
KFw) T, BEHEOAFHEIZ2SE T (208 Tk Fv)
TL72,

200343 H31HZ b o TR T L-REHEEICB W T,
BEENGTEHOEE Tb, fERmPRE H otk
HFICXGENTWILEBREO—HETILE L, 2
DFEFDEEI N, TR ) DL BRME L Z O fifi kS
WKXGENTwET, 2B, TOEEIEKM R
1252 5 BIIEMTHY £,

RS 4 e
20034F % UM20024E3 A 31 H BAE O EE #E O PFRI DL
T Ty,

vk TR

2003 2002 2003
B ¥3934  ¥4026  $32,729
AL 1,262 999 10,499
AR KON i i 4,553 4,505 37,879
AAF 34 226 282
W7 19 19 158

¥9,802  ¥9,775 $81,547

TR SR &

20034F J2 U20024E3 31 HBIAE, $RAT2 © DA HIHE A
SRR AEE D LI EEAFHHIZ2,288H )T
(19,035 Tk Fv) KU2,901EHHTH Y, HEEIC
it LT a g (i) ZLLTo@E) T,

EWE] Tk Fu
2003 2002 2003
J2ty) ¥ 413 ¥458  $ 3,436
Bk E 779 917 6,481
T 2,247 2,247 18,694
A iRE 55 106 457

¥3494  ¥3728 $29,068

VRS 6— R A SR8 e OV UM A G5
20034F J UF20024F-3 7 31 H BUAE O BEARLR [ O IR D
S ABBE O (FF) X, #NE1039% 05
3.25% [ 1°0.06% A 53.25% 127 > TWE T,
20034F [ 200243 H31 HAE O B A IZ LT

DY T,
ENE! TR Fv
2003 2002 2003

F20.60% 20> ©3.74%
SRAT A B QIR R O
HIRAE A4, s
F R O o 4Rk B A
5 OMEFH LR A 4x
GRIFEIER - 20214F) ¥33,607 ¥29339  $279,592
FER2.75% MEH A
(f& 3= HAFR200245) - 10,000 -
FIZ2.25% HEAH AR AE
(1B A BR20024F ) - 5,000 -
FER2.10% MEH A
(1= BR20034E ) 5,000 5,000 41,597
FIZR1.45% HEAH RS
(f& 7% I FR20054F) 10,000 10,000 83,195
FER1.01% MEH A
(1= WIBR20074E ) 10,000 - 83,195
58,607 59,339 487,579

(—EPRE T EEY
s AfE%) 9,454)  (23.235)  (78,652)
AEF ¥49,153 ¥36,104  $408,927

19974E3 A IZHZ0.25% D A A A T T » @45 B vk
5 ISR AR 9,795 5 (120,000 F A 4 A 7
FY)ICTHEITESNT L (WA BRTHRE™YICLS
PR AZ9,379E T M) o UEEHTHRT | 2 T HEMEE 12
20014E3 H20H F T4t bk 2 A 3 2 HF % 5
Z5HDTT, 20014E3H31H% b o> TR T L7-AEMHE
FEAZ G 3R G [ AT & 1 il Aka12,596 T-1k
ZFATLE L7z 20014E331HE T2, TOAA AT
T VBRI, 2TERESNE L,

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd. 35



20034E3 A31 HIHAE, BRI ARG OEE O R FR
ZUTomEy) T,

SAEHMEEFIA3H v FokF
20044 ¥ 9454 $ 78,652
20054F 9,213 76,647
20064 13,091 108,910
20074 7,173 59,676
20084 13,613 113,253
20094F DL % 6,063 50,441

¥ 58,607 $487,579

R 7R

20034F3 31 HIUE, =& L THH 7L — T
77> TV AEHRID S E L A B ERIZ15H 5 H
(7,612 K FN) 2% h, oSBT AaIREL &
72¥a A v bRYF v —AOHE R AHS56,397 H ST
(469,193 Tk Fv) @9 LUt EH58345 71 (6,938
TRV 2&ED2HDTT,

TR R EEA
HAROREETIE, 25 & AR ITMED50% &
FEZEREICHANZITNIER ) $EA, BREIC
MAN WEIIIUF SR SORFEICL D ES L, BX
HiEa (BABRSICEINTVET) ICHEZTOHR
9,

20014E10H TH & O [T OEECEICEED &, BEARLE
B & T OF) 2 HEA 4 D GRS BE R ED25% 1 ET 5
FCIE, BAETH (BG4, BUm% & CEAREYS)
DA% L EH10% % FIAREMBICTEYL T 5 T & 2T
ENRTwEY, COEMEIELE TSNS FIL
Bl MEREDOHHEL L > TRBEMHICETOND
3, R ADREICL > TEREIHANS Z &
DR F 3, BARUEM S K ORI R HEM SO GFHENE
KED25% E BRI, MTEREOPRHEIZL - T,
BYIZFTH S EDTHRET T,
YIELRIOREE TR, BRED25%I2ET 5 £ Tl
Flaasol (R4e., WEkUCEEEES &)
DB EH10% 2 F R EEMEICHAL T2 2 & e K
SncTnwi L7z,

Fic 24 7 B R B AE X PR O BB 2 o T4t B 7
RICEOSEHESINE T,

R 9 IENBAE

BTNV =T, PR Ilhkc B eREONTH
V. 20034F, 20024FE K U20014E3A31H A b > THT L
7o REHEEEII BT A e ERBIFEIZ408% TH D T,
I AV F — T AR SO HE A R A 2 S L oA
DEEPMEH OB % ) P TCwE T, HAOSHED 515
B EIUAIx LCIEZ OS2 R TH 5
—J7, HELEIEO LN VWERRH ) 3,

Rtk &t 36

20033 A31HZ b » TR T LEEKFHMEEICB W T,
FEFENHE L ZHOENBE L OFERE R ZRIILUT

DE) TH,

ka3 2003
e ERBLER 40.8%
RANVHHEITHEA SN WIHE 1.3
ZINEL M SR AR EICE A SN WIHE (1.1
(R 0.6
PRI TN X D IIEBLAE FE DB IE 0.8
Z D1l 2.0
FERh B A 44.4%

20024 JL U20014E3 H31H % b » TR T3 5 XFHEE
CBWTIE, EEMBRERLEEDBRERLE AR IT, =
FEPREETHVORBLTBY) A,

HABEOYIEIZ L D, 20044 H1HLABRICIGE 5 5%
FHEEEIZ DWW TIE, PR BL DB AT HED E R
B BHRERR G OBENMEL 7Y T3, EABED
HIZHED & HFt K OEINEAE T2t E . 200343 1
3IHZ S o TR T L72RFHEE I BT 5 EBL & E R KX
OCHIERSRAMEOFEICS ) . MBIHB IOV T
40.8% . FEFEIIEH 122V TIE39.5% DEE ENBLR %
HWHLTWE T, ZOEEENBROLLOMFR, I
BAEENLS2ETH 33T K M) @A L, EABE
RN 4G TTH (366 TK FIV) . £ DA filiFE % AT Al
FFEFESE LM (67T K FL) #imLTwEd,

20034F % U20024E3 H31 HBUFE 12 B 1T & AL B 4 & pE
L OBEEOEE LR BRIV TO@EY) T3,

AL 10— B2tk & DI |

20034, 20024 JL 200143 H31H 2 H o TR T L 72
RFHEE OB S A~OE LR OCEE A2 5 04 A
LT oY) TY,

FRV—F 4 7 ) — AR
20034F3H31H%Z b o TH T L2 XFHEEEIC BT 5 i
KRRECTH B AL =T 4 7 - ) — ZARF D RFEE
1) — 2

EVE) TR WL Tk R

2003 2002 2001 2003 —4EDIA ¥ 39 $ 324

e I ¥31,952  ¥30,041 ¥32,163 $265,824 —4EiB 346 2,879
1A 2,434 1,598 2,694 20,250 ¥385 $3,203

e 11— — AH |
20034E L U20024E3 H31H 2 b » TR T L7-&EHERE
DY —ARENILLTF D8 Y T,

V=AM O AP EICBE T L LO b5 D

DUSND T 74 F > A - ) — AWFT]

(o) HRAGHARR AT 15 250, kAl £ 08 5 A0 5 451 B OV IODR
TRU IR

B 511 Tk FL
2003 2002 2003
FEAEETE, T H2E A
AOEIPLI
AT AR AH 24 4H ¥2,160 ¥1965  $17,970
PTG HD B T4 AH 24 4R 1,125 972 9,359
AR TR S A Y 4E 1,035 993 8,611

DS AS B AE SCHA FoA A BRI L D HE L Tw
9,

(b) AFEM ) — ZFHUA TR R 24 A1

‘M Tk b
2003 2002 2003
e
HRRERE 4B e
MEIEEREBMLE ¥ 293 ¥ 303 $ 2,438
FKHFFERLRE 212 40 1,764
HEH M E&HEEHA
R 8 8 v 655 406 5,449
Z DAt 59 44 490
FRIERL 4B B AR Y1,219 ¥ 793  $10,141
&1 52
HRRERE 4B e

BT 124 4
THEE ARERBE  ¥2126 ¥1,931  $17,687

EVk] TR EL

2003 2002 2003
—4ELLA ¥ 32 ¥301 $2,696
—AEiE 711 692 5,915

¥1,035 ¥993 $8,611

FAEM ) — AEH AR TR A M AL AR A AR
IVEELTVET,

() SZHAY — 2B B OVIRAl 12 0 EE A 55 75
i Tk

AR TH D F R L —F 1 7 - ) —2AHF Dk
B — ARHI, 20024E3 A31HIREICIEH D FH A,

R 12— NT 1 TG

Wt 7 — THRBIET > TV BT ) NTF 4 THHZ
S AR B T a Y R OERI ATy TR
THOH, INHLETORTNEANY VHIWTIT b T
WEg,

Lkt 7NV — T3 BR TR TBEES T a VI
DWTI BB OLEE) A7 20T 572012, &
FIAT v ZIZOWTIEABII22 5L 3 X N % 8%
LiGE&foZE) A7 2T 25122 ENTh
S>TWFET,

S BT, mEF T a v RSN AT v 7,
ZNFEN, BRHEL— b EFITHROEE ) X7 IS
TwEd,

TUNT 4 TEHE, —EFRFEOHHNT, E0
SN JFEHHERL U C 244 o £ [ B 5 5 A5 i A L L
LTWwWIET, REBBIHEET) N7 1 THEIZDW
TOMEHRE BRI UEEICHRE L TwE 3,

MEL TN —=THBFHL LAYy VHBYO T ) N T
4 TNy VRBRIITROMBY TY,

TIVNTAT Ny URG
T ABETHROCEEE T a SRR
EHAT v T i A EFE

2003 2002 2001 2003

P BBk 57 4 |2 4 401 343 3,336
EE AT 4 1,278 1,224 10,632
Z DA A G RES: STl

SRR 256 472 2,130
Z D 391 370 3,253
HRIEFL 48 i AR 4,452 4,340 37,038
MR 4 B 1

U IV fi 4 (745) (968) (6,198)
& 78 & P A FE T 42 (660) (692) (5,491)
Z DAt (34) (43) (282)
MOIERL S B A AR (1,439  (1,703) (11,971
ML 48 e AR

(Fii%H) ¥3,013  ¥2637  $25,067

PRIEBL S B pE o RT (RUAH)  ¥4,232  ¥3430 835,208

) — 2K ¥302 ¥298 ¥290 $2,512
AT N A FHAE
DEEEE ] 302 208 290 2,512

(d) A FEE RN E I S B D F 5 i ik
TRAM A FN R M AL ) — AR & i AR L
AN &2 % & § A BRI THEL TV T d,

VN —= T, Ny VR ENPLEDF Xy T2 - T
O — |24 L AEFORMEHA, LT, ~y VRO R
WZHELAEFORMEHE ., TVUNT 4 TIZAEL A3
TAEMERBKT LI LI2LD, Ay TV ELTOAER
PaFFM L CWET, WIZANY VTFEREAY VRHED
LENRDHEAA80% 2> 5 125% DHEFHIZH IE, ~Nv VH
FHIAMTHL L HELTBY 9,

DUTFoRIZ, Ny VEFIPEHESNTWZWT YN
7 4 T2 A 20034F K UM20024E3 A 31 H BAE O FEAME
WMrEHLZ2bDTY,

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Led. 37



S AT

200343 H31HIE, Ny VRFPEH S TR Wn
KWBETHEH Y A,

20024FE3 H31 HIRFED Btk 70V — 7 D ey 278 T #9 Ik
PITLLFo®Y) T,

EWL)
2002
RS Rl SR
I
HE, KM ¥49 ¥—  ¥49 ¥52 ¥3

wELr T a v
20034F3H3IHHIE, @EA 723 viddh A,
20024E3 31T HBAED B 7V —Fo@&+ 7o a »
RIIZLL T @Y T7,

20034F, 20024F K UN20014E3 31 H IS T L - H A
O EAEER AT EE IS LS T 2 BRI H O
NERIZLL T 0@ ) T,

M TK R
2003 2002 2001 2003

EWL)
2002
I Wl SFMEE
—HEPA Rl AR
Foid
7 b
kR ¥9213 ¥ — ¥9213
F 7 a vk 96 — 9% ¥92 ¥4
=g
a—)
kR ¥4512 ¥ — ¥4512
7 a vk 89 — 89 ¥80  ¥(9)

AT v THH
20034F K U20024F3 A31 HIRAE, ~v V&Rt & @A L
TWhRWEF AT v THEEH Y T8 A,

TERC 13 —BRGa 5 1254
FEAL () THHELTWDEBY, UHT V- T,
200044 7 1 HIZBRERRT 126R B 8 L W & EHAEHE 28 A
U GBIRAR 5124 6 R OB RAR 12 I3 4F S ROBRT 5
ICE DB SN HE S LITRESATVET,
20034F K U2002473 131 H AL O il Bl 2R 2R
EEN T BB TS EDONFRIZLL T 0@ ) T¥,

EVlE) Tk Koy
2003 2002 2003
RIS ¥(9,090) ¥(9,154) $(75,624)
KRBTGS L o&R 475 948 3,952
Pely L FEEEONIEME 2,786 2,386 23,178
LR S (347) (—) (2,887)
BT 124 4 ¥(6,176) ¥ (5,820) $(51,381)

BB St 38

R — 41
s Sz ¥590  ¥526  ¥483 $4,909

FEE H 208 199 207 1,730
TR IS 19) (15) (8) (158)
BEHE FoERD

T L ER A 176 85 — 1,464
W R E O —HE

e P LR - 681 - -

AT IR T IR A

D —FEH LA - — 1,952 -

SBREAGTT1EBHE ¥955 Y1476 Y2,634 $7,945

20034F, 20024F K 2001453 H31HZ b o TR T L7
KRFHEEEIZOWTIE, ElFlRiEEnEsnFE L L T25%.
25% K VEE LT3.0% ML TWwWE 9, 20034,
20024FE S U20014E3 H31H % b » T T L2 XEHEEIC
DWTIL, FEEEOMFHERGRETIEhEIL
LT1.0%. 1.0% KXT1.0% ZHH L TWwE 3, BRFAM
ARSI A E IS X ) K FEFEEAET L T
9, HEEIH LoARITEREICL ) F L LTI04E
Wbz EPE LTHEFBELTVWEST, 2720, B40
BUR L D BRI T E T,

e 14—t 7 2 v Mg
FEOMHE £ 7 A > b
WA 7 — T OBEEHFIIEICUTDO3IDDHERK S
Moo TWET,
(1) 79V 7 - MG
AVIAVARE MOY S T
(2) MO TS HESE
HEHN T o B 5 W 5
(3) ZzoflioFE
AP, B BMELE - I5E, NV TEREM
Ot A - BFe. AEyEEHE. R, i -
AEE, HREIZE, Foft

20034E3A31H% b > TR T T ARFHEERIC, F¥EOFEEL L) KL, FHEOREHERT HEICHRT 572
DI, FERXGEFmRLE Lz, ek, ZOFHERXGIE V7 -k - MINLRELEFEE" & “FofiofE” 12
KosnTB), “BnCHaEESREE 3 07 - K- MLmEEREE 250N TwE Lz, @E2AEMo+¢
T X MERIZE R OEEX G HE > TEIEL TWE T,

Yk
2003
AVAZRY AN T h Z0Mho THEE
BER ik £ S it 4t i
7t b
bASE I ¥ 124,936 ¥10,864 ¥ 6,356  ¥142,156 ¥ - ¥ 142,156
A M 918 67 17,226 18,211 (18,211) -
Fe lm (eiF) 125,854 10,931 23,582 160,367 (18,211) 142,156
(¢ 2 ¢ 116,491 10,346 22,987 149,824 (18,383) 131,441
BRI ¥9,363 ¥ 58 ¥ 595 ¥ 10,543 ¥ 172 ¥ 10,715
B ¥197,065 ¥ 8,261 ¥13561  ¥218,887 ¥ (5591) ¥213,296
PR AT (B ¥ 13,460 ¥ 401 ¥ 409 ¥ 14,270 ¥ (333) ¥ 13937
BARM ¥ 10,442 ¥ 748 ¥ 1,122 ¥ 12,312 ¥ (516) ¥ 11,796
B
2002
ST T Zofto e AL
ik Wik £ S it 4t i
7t FE:
AN 2 ¥118,731 ¥ 10,200 ¥ 77241 ¥136,172 ¥ — ¥ 136,172
Y7 X M 848 43 19,164 20,055 (20,055) —
Fe lm (W) 119,579 10,243 26,405 156,227 (20,055) 136,172
(=& 2 ¢l 110,803 9,914 25,600 146,317 (20,209) 126,108
BRI ¥ 8,776 ¥ 329 ¥ 805 ¥ 9910 ¥ 154 ¥ 10,064
B ¥203,437 ¥ 8,053 ¥14221  ¥225711 ¥ (4,821) ¥220,890
ARSIk ¥ 13,539 ¥ 429 ¥ 439 ¥ 14407 ¥ (316) ¥ 14,091
GRS H ¥ 14,767 ¥ 410 ¥ 369 ¥ 15,546 ¥ (524) ¥ 15,022

ERel (h) THHAILZZ@EY ., 20024E3H31HA & » TR T LASFHEEICBW T, SR L ICH 57090 73
& B M R ) SE B O WA E RN ik o, BEEEPOEREIIEAH L TWET, COELHEIZLD, 0T - Hil
WEHE BT AEENRIILBIEANBAS L TWET,

eyl
2002
ST ) ot e AL
g g L it Zi b
7t L5
AN 2 ¥ 127,766 ¥9,573 ¥ 8,101 ¥ 145,440 ¥ — Y 145,440
LAY MY 905 51 17,386 18,342 (18,342) —
e b (i) 128,671 9,624 25,487 163,782 (18,342) 145,440
(=E X ¢ 114,047 9,160 24,713 147,920 (18,712) 129,208
R Y 14,624 Y 464 ¥ 774 ¥ 15862 ¥ 370 ¥ 16232
B ¥206,950 ¥8,334 ¥13,750  ¥229,034 ¥ (453) ¥228,581
TATE K ¥ 12311 ¥ 396 ¥ 479 ¥ 13,186 ¥ (263) ¥ 12,923
TR ¥ 17,081 ¥ 644 ¥ 329 ¥ 8,054 ¥ (251) ¥ 7,803

TERCL (j) THHIL TR, BH7 v — 713, 20004E4 5 1H & 0 BEAAHITAR L HraftEEz @ L Tw I
To BraFtEEZ @A L7oR, (EROIEEIZL o> 7251 OV T - IEBGEHEZE” D20014E331HZ % -
THRT L2 RFHEE OB FEANED44E TR L, SN T E$E” o FEMNR 7 S47 7HmL., “2 oo
HE” OEENRDV2ETHEA L TnET,

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd. 39



"
2003
AV A/AY |8 AN 5 Z Do HZ
ES g B F¥E i &t LA
GRE
LA S $1,039,401 $90,383 $ 52,878  $1,182,662 $ - $1,182,662
YA N 7,637 557 143,311 151,505 (151,505) -
e b Ghig) 1,047,038 90,940 196,189 1,334,167 (151,505) 1,182,662
EER 969,143 86,073 191,240 1,246,456 (152,937) 1,093,519
R R $ 77,895 $ 4,867 $ 4949 $ 87,711 $ 1,432 $ 89,143
BRE $1,639,476 $68,727 $112,820  $1,821,023 $ (46,514) $1,774,509
PR ATE HNE $ 111,980 $ 3,336 $ 3,403 $ 118,719 $ (2,771) $ 115,948
GRS H $ 86,872 $ 6,223 $ 9334 $ 102,429 $ (4,293) $ 98,136

FTAEHR £ 7 A > M &

e 77 2 > MEBICE L TBEIME R R L O EE R SEN 2wz, idliz gL L7z,

S s

EAVIE LR ATE EED10% KM TH S 720, iz BigL £ L7,

ALK Hi T8
20024E3H31H%Z b o TR T L7KFHEEIZB W T,
HARDOGRIBERE WK HITIKRH TH o 72720, 8 1
KHIZRFESIND D DOPHEBZEDEFREH TH 5H20024F4
THICHFWUE 247> TWE T, 4 RMDOEEH O
WEIL, LF o) T§,

HAM
ZIFIE ¥ 504
FHTH 2,465
N BIAR AL T 344

BB S 40

Hic16— AT HR
20034FE6 H27 HICB e Ut o Bk TR A I2 B W
T, LTORMG PRI NE L,

(a) 20034E3 31 HBAEDOFR I K L, B4 72 0 6.001]
(0.05k Fv) OFIZEE M4 #%4E984TT HH (8,186
Tk 258405

(b) B ~OHEE 5630 M (524T kK FV) 23
g

BHIE20034FE5 H21H 12, FI#0.51% ., 20084F- (% D
10,000 H T (83,195T2K Fv) oA E % %
LTI,

Je R A
R B OV IR 15 23

MR NI, T E R TV A LB S (AARO &) ROTZFDOFE1t0 AT THEIR S 7220034 K
U20024FE3 31 H AL OMAE AT IRZR . 3F ONIC20034E3 H31H % & o THET L 7234E [ O % XEHERE O i iEas 5t 5
. OEAER IR EFLES Yy v v a - TO—FEFICOWVWTEELITo 72, IO O BiER O
BEHIIREEICH ) . YEREANOBFLRERICESVWTINS OEENBERICERZERT LI EIZH 5,

MEEZEF AL, ARIZBOW T RICAIERZ YL L8O O NI ICHER L CEREZITo72, INSDEFDR
I BERICERLEBLOFIRE 0L ) OSBRI L 155 72O I MBEAEAPEALFE L, FEET
LIZERRDT VWD, BAIIHELIEBL LT, MBHRIIBUAEHEFRTVILT A AT 5 2 & & &
ATWD, F72, BERIIREZAVHRA LR R OREEICL > TUThN - BEE LR AR ) OFFHiid 5o, &F
ELTOMBHEDFRROFMATLI L EHFATYD, BEAENL, BEEOMFKREL LTEREHDO2ODEH
M7 B 2 1572 LT L T %,

VEAFEAOBRICI L, LRRoEEMEHRIE. BRICBW T ICREZ Y LBO LN A5HEE (FE
1(a)) (ZHEPLL . 20034F &% UN20024E3 H 31 HBIE IC B 1T A LB &4 K Y2 O -S4 o I BUIREE R ON1220034E3
H3IHZ S o THT L723MEMO K SFHEEORERBER F v v a2 - 70 —DRWE TN TOERELHIZBWT
HIEIZFRR L TWwa,

FRROBERZRETLZ L, DTOBRERTY LT,

(1) MM BHEOERLL (d). 1 (e) KT () ICFEHO@EY | JbBEEKA ST R ZOENT2HIE, (a)
200144 H1H X 0, ZOMAMRES O RHEREAG B3 % HARDOHAFHEMEE . (b) 20004F4H1H X 0, 4k
i (2R 2 BT T 25 ME R ONE IR AT 1042 2 Fr AT IR NV E IR IR A S IE SN - KT AR SR L C
Wb,

(2) HAEMBFEEOFERL (h) ISR Y | BB S, 20014F4 A 1H X 0 | #8EEE O Wl 5 o
FEICE LT, KT OEREZITo T b,

20034F3A31H % & o THT Lo SFHEEIC BT 2 B# R I EOFEEDO -0 KE FIVICE S TW 5,
MEEA NTIRE ORI 21T o 728, UEAFEAOFERICI UL, BARHTHRR SN TV D B RE R 13E
WM BEROERL (a) TR SN HEI > TRE FVICEI R TWw 5,

ENENESRE YN
Bl HAR
200346 H27H

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Led. 41



Consolidated Balance Sheets

HOKUETSU PAPER MILLES, LTD.
March 31, 2003 and 2002

Thousand of

U.S. dollars
Millions of yen (Note 1)
ASSETS 2003 2002 2003
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and deposits (Note 2) ¥ 6,934 ¥ 4562 $ 57,687
Notes and accounts receivable (Note 15):
Trade 34,661 40,703 288,361
Affiliates 12,627 12,627 105,050
Other 384 384 3,195
Allowance for doubtful accounts (41) (10) (341)
Inventories (Note 4) 9,802 9,775 81,547
Deferred income taxes (Note 9) 1,219 793 10,141
Prepaid expenses and other 1,471 1,881 12,239
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 67,057 70,715 557,879
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Note 5):
Land and timberland 10,848 9,557 90,250
Buildings and structures 46,653 46,002 388,128
Machinery and equipment 247,667 243,981 2,060,458
Construction in progress 5,686 2,487 47,304
310,854 302,027 2,586,140
Less accumulated depreciation (192,182) (180,793) (1,598,852)
NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 118,672 121,234 987,288
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS:
Investments in securities (Notes 3 & 5) 14,484 16,121 120,499
Investments in and receivables from affiliates 3,427 3,418 28,511
Long-term loans receivable 362 385 3,012
Guarantee deposits 3,144 3,365 26,156
Deferred income taxes (Note 9) 3,013 2,637 25,067
Other 3,549 3,419 29,525
Allowance for doubtful accounts (412) (404) (3,428)
TOTAL INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS 27,567 28,941 229,342
¥213,296  ¥220,890 $1,774,509

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Thousand of

Millions of yen U(IEI-OC:(;HIH)IS
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 2003 2002 2003
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Short-term loans (Note 6) ¥ 21,334 ¥ 26,734 $ 177,488
Current maturities of long-term debt (Note 6) 9,454 23,235 78,652
Notes and accounts payable (Note 15):
Trade 17,800 22,013 148,087
Affiliates 452 452 3,760
Other 3,950 5,451 32,862
Income taxes payable (Note 9) 2,609 460 21,705
Accrued expenses 4,701 4,472 39,110
Other 1,910 1,630 15,890
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 62,210 84,447 517,554
LONG-TERM DEBT (Note 6),
less current maturities 49,153 36,104 408,927
EMPLOYEES’ SEVERANCE AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS (Note 13) 6,176 5,820 51,381
RETIREMENT BENEFITS FOR DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE AUDITORS 1,012 842 8,419
OTHER 166 429 1,381
MINORITY INTERESTS 540 511 4,493
CONTINGENCIES (Note 7)
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Note 8):
Common stock:
authorized—260,000,000 shares;
issued and outstanding—164,052,054 shares 26,821 26,821 223,136
Capital surplus 25,094 25,094 208,769
Retained earnings 42,724 41,475 355,441
Net unrealized holding loss on securities, net of tax (412) (646) (3,428)
Treasury stock (188) 7) (1,564)
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 94,039 92,737 782,354
¥213,296  ¥220,890  $1,774,509
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Consolidated Statements of Income Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
HOKUETSU PAPER MILLES, LTD. HOKUETSU PAPER MILLES, LTD.
Years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 Years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
Thousand of Millions of yen
Millions of yen U(.I%O(iglﬁrs . . Net unrealized
Number of Common Capital Retained holding loss on  Treasury
2003 2002 2001 2003 shares stock surplus earnings  securities, net of tax stock
NET SALES (Notes 10 & 14) ¥142,156  ¥136,172  ¥145,440 $1,182,662 Balance at April 1, 2000 151,456,376 ¥23,307 ¥20,941 ¥35,052 ¥ — ¥ (1)
COST OF SALES (Note 10) 111,351 108,210 111,589 926,381 Net income — — — 6,853 — —
Gross profit 30,805 27,962 33,851 256,281 Sales of treasury stock, net — — — — — 0
Cash dividends paid (¥8.50 per share) — — — (1,303) — —
SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 20,090 17,898 17,619 167,138 Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors — — — (82) — —
Operating income 10,715 10,064 16,232 89,143 Exercise of warrants (Note 6) 12,595,678 3,514 4,153 — — —
Decrease due to changes in the number of
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES): consolidated subsidiaries — — — ) — —
Interest and dividend income 278 312 259 2,313
Interest expenses (1,272) (1,491) (1,708) (10,582) Balance at March 31, 2001 164,052,054 26,821 25,094 40,518 — (1)
Equity in income of affiliates 45 35 171 374 Net income — 2,772 — —
Gain (Loss) on sales of securities, net 2 (0) (58) 17 Adoption of market valuation rule for
Loss on devaluation of investments in securities (4,060) (2,584) (171) (33,777) available-for-sale securities — — — — (646) —
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (594) (1,142) (794) (4,942) Purchases of treasury stock, net — — — — — (6)
Loss on devaluation of golf memberships (8) (23) (170) 67) Cash dividends paid (¥10.00 per share) — — — (1,641) — —
One-time amortization of net transition obligation — — (1,952) — Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors — — — (101) — —
One-time amortization of prior service costs — (681) — — Decrease due to changes of interest in an affiliate — — — (73) — —
Other, net 361 457 96 3,003
(,248)  (5117) (4,327 (43,661) Balance at March 31, 2002 164,052,054 26,821 25,094 41,475 (646) 7)
Net income — — — 2,979 — —
Income before income taxes and minority interests 5,467 4,947 11,905 45,482 Adjustment of net unrealized holding loss on
securities, net of tax — — — — 234 —
INCOME TAXES (Note 9): Purchases of treasury stock, net — — — — — (181)
Current 3,446 1,673 6,679 28,669 Cash dividends paid (¥10.00 per share) — — — (1,640) — —
Deferre (1,018) 433 (1,718) (8,469) Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors — — — (90) — —
2,428 2,106 4,961 20,200 Balance at March 31, 2003 164,052,054 ¥26,821 ¥25,094 ¥42,724 ¥(412) ¥(188)
INCOME BEFORE MINORITY INTERESTS 3,039 2,841 6,944 25,282
MINORITY INTERESTS 60 69 91 498
NET INCOME ¥ 2,979 ¥ 2,772 ¥ 6,853 $ 24,784 Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)
Number of Common Capital Retained lli)cifi&[glegilszg(ril Treasury
shares stock surplus earnings  securities, net of tax  stock
Balance at March 31, 2002 164,052,054  $223,136  $208,769  $345,049 $(5,374) $  (58)
Net income — — — 24,784 — —
Adjustment of net unrealized holding loss on
Ven U('Isq'o‘i‘c?l%a)“ securities, net of tax — — — — 1,946 —
2003 2002 2001 2003 Purcha.se.s of treasury stock, net — — — — — (1,5006)
AMOUNTS PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK (Note 1): Cash dividends paid ($0.08 per share) - - — (13049 - -
Net income ¥17.65 ¥16.90 Y4404 $0.15 onuses to directors and corporate auditors — — — (748) — —
. . Balance at March 31, 2003 164,052,054 $223,136 $208,769 $355,441 $(3,428) $(1,564)
Diluted net income — — — —
Cash dividends applicable to the year 10.00 10.00 10.00 0.08 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

The accompanying notes are an imegral part Of thESC statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

HOKUETSU PAPER MILLES, LTD.
Years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Thousand of
U.S. dollars
Millions of yen (Note 1)
2003 2002 2001 2003
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Income before income taxes and minority interests ¥ 5,467 ¥ 4,947 ¥11,905 $ 45,482
Depreciation and amortization 13,937 14,091 12,923 115,948
(Gain) Loss on sales of securities, net 2) 0 58 17)
Loss on devaluation of investments in securities 4,060 2,584 171 33,777
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 594 1,142 794 4,942
Interest and dividend income (278) (312) (259) (2,313)
Interest expenses 1,272 1,491 1,708 10,582
(Increase) Decrease in notes and accounts receivable 6,042 2,768 (11,249) 50,266
(Increase) Decrease in inventories (45) (1,365) 980 (374)
Increase (Decrease) in notes and accounts payable (3,503) (3,065) 5,979 (29,143)
Increase (Decrease) in employees’ severance and retirement benefits 356 663 2,660 2,962
Increase (Decrease) in retirement benefits for directors and
corporate auditors 170 (329) 286 1,414
Other, net 491 418 (1,001) 4,086
Subtotal 28,561 23,033 24,955 237,612
Interest and dividend income received in cash 308 342 284 2,562
Interest expenses paid in cash (1,255) (1,526) (1,785) (10,440)
Income taxes paid in cash (1,296) (7,139) (1,946) (10,782)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 26,318 14,710 21,508 218,952
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Cash payments to time deposits 93) (130) (1,222) (774)
Cash return from time deposits 94 223 1,261 782
Acquisition of securities (2,542) (593) (3,608) (21,148)
Proceeds from sales of securities 586 2 121 4,875
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (13,791)  (12,554) (6,510) (114,734)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 68 172 139 566
Other, net (430) (514) (781) 3,577)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (16,108) (13,394) (10,600) (134,010)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Increase (Decrease) in short-term loans (5,400) 5,302 (2,657) (44,925)
Proceeds from long-term loans 13,400 6,600 1,550 111,481
Repayments of long-term loans 9,132) (8,975) (18,209) (75,973)
Proceeds from issuance of unsecured yen straight bonds 10,000 — 10,000 83,195
Redemption of unsecured yen straight bonds (15,000) (5,000) — (124,792)
Redemption of Swiss Franc guaranteed notes with detachable
stock warrants — — (9,379) —
Exercise of warrants — — 7,003 —
Dividends paid (1,639) (1,641) (1,302) (13,636)
Other, net (50) (21) 9) (417)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (7,821) (3,735) (13,003) (65,067)
TRANSLATION LOSS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (16) 12 36 (133)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,373 (2,407) (2,059) 19,742
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 4,403 6,810 8,868 36,631
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS OF NEWLY CONSOLIDATED
SUBSIDIARY AT BEGINNING OF YEAR — — 1 —
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (Note 2) ¥ 6,776 ¥ 4,403 ¥ 6,810 $ 56,373

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

HOKUETSU PAPER MILLES, LTD.

Note 1—Summary of Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Presentation of Consolidated Financial
Statements
Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd. (hereafter, “the Company”) and
its consolidated subsidiaries maintain their official accounting
records in accordance with the provisions set forth in the
Japanese Commercial Code (hereafter, “the Code”) and
accounting principles and practices generally accepted in Japan
(hereafter, “Japanese GAAP”). Certain accounting principles
and practices generally accepted in Japan are different from
International Accounting Standards and standards in other
countries in certain respects as to application and disclosure
requirements. Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated
financial statements are intended for use by those who are
informed about Japanese accounting principles and practices.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have
been restructured and translated into English (with some
expanded descriptions and the inclusion of statements of
shareholders’ equity) from the consolidated financial state-
ments of the Company prepared in accordance with Japanese
GAAP and filed with the appropriate Local Finance Bureau
of the Ministry of Finance as required by the Securities and
Exchange Law. Some supplementary information included in
the statutory Japanese language consolidated financial state-
ments, but not required for fair presentation, is not presented
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The translations of the Japanese yen amounts into U.S.
dollars are included solely for the convenience of readers,
using the prevailing exchange rate at March 31, 2003, which
was ¥120.20 to U.S.$1.00. The convenience translations
should not be construed as representations that the Japanese
yen amounts have been, could have been, or could in the
future be, converted into U.S. dollars at this or any other rate
of exchange.

(b) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the accounts

of the Company and its all subsidiaries (hereafter, “the Com-
panies”). Significant inter-company balances and transactions
have been eliminated in the consolidation.

In the elimination of investments in subsidiaries, the assets
and liabilities of the subsidiaries, including the portion attrib-
utable to minority shareholders, are evaluated using the fair
value at the time the Company acquired control of the respec-
tive subsidiaries. The differences between the investment cost
and net assets of subsidiaries acquired are amortized on a
straight-line basis over a period of five years.

Equity method is applied to all affiliates except for affiliates
located in Australia and New Zealand due to its immateriality

to both net income and consolidated retained earnings for the
year ended March 31, 2003.

Equity method is applied to all affiliates except for an affili-
ate located in New Zealand due to its immateriality to both
consolidated net income and consolidated retained earnings
for the years ended March 31, 2002 and 2001.

Number of consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates applied
by equity method is as follows:

Number of Companies

2003 2002 2001
Consolidated subsidiaries 10 13 14
Affiliates applied by equity method 6 6 5

Ohu Mokuzai Kogyo Co., Ltd., Hokuetsu Fukushima
Chip Co., Ltd., Hokuetsu Forest Co., Ltd. and Yamakita
Unso Co., Ltd., which were included in the consolidated
financial statements until the year ended March 31, 2002,
were merged together with Hokuetsu Fukushima Chip Co.,
Ltd. as a surviving company at April 1, 2002. The name of
the merged company was changed to Hokuetsu Forest Co.,
Ltd. as of April 1, 2002.

Jyouetsu Kaihatsu Co., Ltd. was liquidated at March 29,
2002. Jyouetsu Kaihatsu Co., Ltd. was included in the con-
solidated financial statements for periods until its liquidation.

Niigata PCC Co., Ltd., an affiliate incorporated on March
29, 2002, is accounted for by the equity method from the
year ended March 31, 2002.

On June 1, 2000, Kyowa Hokuetsu Co., Ltd., which had
been accounted for by the equity method in the year ended
March 31, 2000, merged with Hokuetsu Mizugiken Co.,
Ltd., which had been a consolidated subsidiary. Upon merger,
Kyowa Hokuetsu Co., Ltd., the surviving company, changed
its company name to Techno Hokuetsu Co., Ltd., which is
consolidated from the year ended March 31, 2001.

(¢) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

In preparing the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash
on hand, readily-available deposits and short-term highly
liquid investments with maturities of not exceeding three
months at the time of purchase are considered to be cash and
cash equivalents.

(d) Translation of Foreign Currencies
Short-term receivables and payables denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into Japanese yen at the year-end
rate. Prior to April 1, 2000, long-term receivables and
payable denominated in foreign currencies were translated at
historical rates.

Effective April 1, 2000, the Companies adopted the revised
accounting standard for foreign currency translation, “Opinion
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Concerning Revision of Accounting Standard for Foreign
Currency Translation”, issued by the Business Accounting
Deliberation Council on October 22, 1999 (the “Revised
Accounting Standard”). Under the Revised Accounting Stan-
dard, long-term receivables and payables denominated in for-
eign currencies are also translated into Japanese yen at the
year-end rate.

There was no effect on the consolidated statement of
income for the year ended March 31, 2001 of adopting the
Revised Accounting Standard.

(e) Securities

Effective April 1, 2000, the Companies adopted the new
Japanese accounting standard for financial instruments
(“Opinion Concerning Establishment of Accounting Stan-
dard for Financial Instruments” issued by the Business
Accounting Deliberation Council on January 22, 1999).

Upon applying the new accounting standard, all companies
are required to examine the intent of holding each security
and classify those securities as (a) securities held for trading
purposes (hereafter, “trading securities”), (b) debt securities
intended to be held to maturity (hereafter, “held-to-maturity
debt securities”), (c) equity securities issued by subsidiaries
and affiliates or (d) for all other securities that are not classi-
fied in any of the above categories (hereafter, “available-for-
sale securities”). The Companies do not have the securities
defined as (a) above in the years ended March 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001. Also, there were no securities defined as (b)
above in the year ended March 31, 2003.

Held-to-maturity debt securities are stated at amortized
cost. Equity securities issued by affiliates not accounted for by
the equity method are stated at moving-average cost.

If the market value of held-to-maturity debt securities and
available-for-sale securities, declines significantly, such securi-
ties are stated at fair market value and the difference between
fair market value and the carrying amount is recognized as
loss in the period of the decline. Debrt securities with no avail-
able fair market value are stated at amortized cost, net of the
amount considered not collectible. If the fair market value of
equity securities, except for those accounted for by the equity
method, is not readily available, such securities should be
written down to net asset value with a corresponding charge
in the statement of income in the event net asset value
declines significantly. In these cases, such fair market value or
the net asset value will be the carrying amount of the securities
at the beginning of the next year.

In the year ended March 31, 2001, as a result of adopting
the new accounting standard for financial instruments, income
before income taxes and minority interests increased by ¥1,913
million. Also, based on the examination of the intent of hold-
ing each security upon application of the new accounting
standard on April 1, 2000, held-to-maturity debt securities
and available-for-sale securities maturing within one year
from the balance sheet date are included in current assets, and
other securities are included in investments and other assets.
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Effective April 1, 2001, available-for-sale securities with
available fair market values are stated at fair market value.
Unrealized gain and unrealized loss on these securities are
reported, net of applicable income taxes, as a separate compo-
nent of shareholders’ equity. Realized gain and loss on sale of
such securities are computed using moving-average cost.

In the year ended March 31, 2002, as a result of adopting
the new accounting standard for market valuation of available-
for-sale securities, net unrealized holding loss on securities,
net of tax, deferred income tax assets and minority interests
amounted to ¥646 million, ¥472 million and ¥0 million,
respectively.

(f) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Companies provide the allowance for doubtful accounts
in an amount sufficient to cover probable losses on collection
by estimating individually uncollectible amounts in addition
to applying an actual rate of bad debts incurred in the past.

(g) Inventories

Inventories are stated at cost. Cost is determined by the monthly
average method for raw materials, supplies and finished goods.
Cost of work-in-process is determined using the FIFO (first-
in, first-out) method. The specific identification method is
used to determine the cost of timber and land for sale.

(h)Property, Plant, Equipment and Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Buildings
owned by the Company, machinery and equipments, exclud-
ing pulp manufacturing and steam generator equipments,
located in Niigata Mill, fiber board manufacturing equip-
ments located in Nagaoka Mill, and consolidated subsidiaries’
buildings acquired after March 31, 1998 are depreciated
using the straight-line method over the useful lives prescribed
by the Japanese tax regulations. The other tangible fixed
assets are depreciated using the declining-balance method at
rates determined based on the useful lives prescribed by the
Japanese tax regulations. The cost and accumulated deprecia-
tion applicable to assets retired or otherwise disposed of are
eliminated from the related accounts and the gain or loss on
disposal is credited or charged to income.

In the year ended March 31, 2002, the Company changed
the depreciation method for pulp manufacturing and steam
generator equipments located in Niigata Mill from the
straight-line method to the declining-balance method in
order to achieve a better allocation of depreciation expenses
over the lives of those assets. As a result of this change, depre-
ciation expense for the year ended March 31, 2002 increased
by ¥1,556 million, operating income and income before
income taxes and minority interests decreased by ¥1,431
million, respectively.

Expenditures for new facilities and those that substantially
increase the useful lives of existing plant and equipment are
capitalized. Maintenance, repair and minor renewals are
charged to expenses as incurred.

(i) Finance Leases
Finance leases, except those leases for which the ownership of
the leased assets is considered to be transferred to the lessee,

are accounted for in the same manner as operating leases.

(j) Employees’ Severance and Retirement Benefits
Employees severing their connections with the Companies on
retirement or otherwise are entitled, in most circumstances, to
a lump-sum severance payment and annuity payments based
on current rates of pay, length of service and certain other
factors. Most employees are covered by two retirement benefit
plans, an unfunded lump-sum severance payment plan and a
funded non-contributory defined benefit pension plan.

Effective April 1, 2000, the Companies adopted the new
accounting standard, “Opinion on Setting Accounting Stan-
dard for Employees’ Severance and Pension Benefits”, issued
by the Business Accounting Deliberation Council on June
16, 1998 (hereafter, “the New Accounting Standard”).

Under the New Accounting Standard, the liabilities and
expenses for severance and retirement benefits are determined
based on the amounts actuarially calculated using certain
assumptions.

The Companies provided allowance for employees’ sever-
ance and retirement benefits at the balance sheet date based
on the estimated amounts of projected benefit obligation and
the fair value of the plan assets at that date.

The excess of the projected benefit obligation over the total
of the fair value of pension assets as of April 1, 2000 and the
liabilities for severance and retirement benefits recorded as of
April 1, 2000 (hereafter, “the net transition obligation”)
amounted to ¥1,952 million. The entire net transition oblig-
ation was recognized as expenses for the year ended March
31, 2001.

As a result of the adoption of the new accounting standard,
in the year ended March 31, 2001, severance and retirement
benefit expenses increased by ¥2,023 million and income
before income taxes and minority interests decreased by
¥2,025 million compared with what would have been
recorded under the previous accounting standard.

(k) Retirement Benefits for Directors and Corporate
Auditors
Directors who are the members of the Board of Directors and
corporate auditors severing their connections with the Com-
panies upon retirement or otherwise are entitled, in most
circumstances, to lump-sum severance payments based on
current rates of pay, length of services and certain other factors,
including contributions to the Companies. The Companies
accrue 100% of obligations based on their rules required
under the assumption that all directors and corporate statutory
auditors retired at the balance sheet date.

(1) Issuance Costs of Bonds and Discounts of Notes
Expenditures for issuance costs of bonds are charged to oper-
ations as incurred. Discounts on Swiss Franc guaranteed notes

with warrants at issuance were capitalized and all amortized

over the bond term by the end of March 31, 2001.

(m)Derivatives and hedge accounting

The new accounting standard for financial instruments, effec-
tive from the year ended March 31, 2001, requires companies
to state derivative financial instruments at fair value and to
recognize changes in the fair value as gain or loss unless deriv-
ative financial instruments are used for hedging purposes.

If derivative financial instruments are used as hedges and
meet certain hedging criteria, the Companies defer recogni-
tion of gain or loss resulting from changes in fair value of
derivative financial instruments until the related loss or gain
on the hedged items is recognized.

Also, if interest rate swap contracts are used as hedges and
meet certain hedging criteria, the net amount to be paid or
received under the interest rate swap contract is added to or
deducted from the interest on the assets or liabilities for
which the swap contract was executed.

(n)Income Taxes

The Companies recognize tax effects of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for tax
and financial reporting. Under the accounting standard, the
provision for income taxes is computed based on the pretax
income included in the consolidated statements of income.
The asset and liability approach is used to recognize deferred
tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences
of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
amounts used for income tax purposes.

(o)Bonuses to Directors and Corporate Auditors
Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors are subject to
approval by the sharecholders and are accounted for as an
appropriation of retained earnings for the period in which
payment is made.

(p)Per Share Information

Net income per share is computed based upon the average
number of shares of common stock outstanding during the
period. Diluted net income per share is not disclosed for the
years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, as Swiss Franc
guaranteed notes with detachable stock warrants were all
redeemed as of March 27, 2001, and the Company has not
had any notes with warrants or convertible bonds for the
years ended March 31, 2003 and 2002.

Effective April 1, 2002, the Companies adopted the new
accounting standard for earnings per share and related guid-
ance (Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 2,
“Accounting Standard for Earnings Per Share” and Financial
Standards Implementation Guidance No. 4, “Implementa-
tion Guidance for Accounting Standard for Earnings Per
Share”, issued by the Accounting Standards Board of Japan
on September 25, 2002).
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Earnings per share for the years ended March 31, 2002 and
2001, would have been reported as follows, if this new
accounting standard were applied retroactively.

2002 2001

Net income ¥16.38 ¥43.57
Diluted net income — —

Cash dividends per share have been presented on an
accrual basis and include dividends to be approved after the
balance sheet date, but applicable to the year then ended.

(q)Accounting Standard for Treasury Stock and
Reversal of Statutory Reserves
Effective April 1, 2002, the Companies adopted the new
accounting standard for treasury stock and reversal of statu-
tory reserves (Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 1,
“Accounting Standard for Treasury Stock and Reversal of
Statutory Reserves”, issued by the Accounting Standards
Board of Japan on February 21, 2002). The effect of adopting
the new accounting standard on the consolidated statement of
income for the year ended March 31, 2003 was immaterial.

(r) Use of Estimate

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
Japan and, as such, include amounts based on informed esti-
mates and judgements of management with consideration
given to materiality. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

(s) Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform
to the current year’s presentation. These change have no
impact on previously reported results of operations or share-
holders’ equity.

Note 2—Cash and Cash Equivalents

Reconciliation of cash and deposits shown in the consoli-
dated balance sheets and cash and cash equivalents shown in
the consolidated statements of cash flows at March 31, 2003
and 2002 is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2003 2002 2003
Cash and deposits ¥6,934 ¥4,562 $57,687
Less time deposits with maturities
exceeding three months (158) (159) (1,314)
Cash and cash equivalents ¥6,776 ¥4,403 $56,373
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Note 3—Securities

The following tables summarize acquisition costs and book
value of securities with available fair value as of March 31,
2003 and 2002:

Available-for-securities:

Millions of yen
2003
Type Acquisition Book value Difference
Equity securities:
with book value exceeding
acquisition costs ¥2,055 ¥2,351 ¥ 296
with book value not exceeding
acquisition costs 7,414 6,469 (945)
¥9,469 ¥8,820 ¥(649)
Millions of yen
2002
Type Acquisition Book value Difference
Equity securities:
with book value exceeding
acquisition costs ¥ 4,468 ¥ 5,398 ¥ 930
with book value not exceeding
acquisition costs 9,135 7,051 (2,084)
¥13,603 ¥12,449 ¥(1,154)
Thousands of U.S. dollars
2003
Type Acquisition Book value Difference
Equity securities:
with book value exceeding
acquisition costs $17,096 $19,559 $ 2,463
with book value not exceeding
acquisition costs 61,681 53,819 (7,862)

$78,777 $73,378 $(5,399)

The following tables summarize book value of securities
with no available fair value as of March 31, 2003 and 2002:
(a) Held-to-maturity debt securities:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars
Type 2003 2002 2003
Subordinated debenture ¥— ¥1,500 $—
(b) Available-for-sale securities:
Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars
Type 2003 2002 2003
Subordinated debenture ¥1,000 ¥— $ 8,319
Non-listed equity securities 4,663 2,171 38,794

The following table summarizes information of maturities of
held-to-maturity debt securities at March 31, 2003 and 2002:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars
Type 2003 2002 2003
Held-to-maturity debt securities:
Bank debenture
Opver five years but within
ten years ¥ ¥1,500 $—

The following table summarizes information of maturities of
available-for-sale debt securities at March 31, 2003 and 2002:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars
Type 2003 2002 2003
Available-for-sale debt securities:
Bank debenture
Over five years but within
ten years ¥1,000 ¥— $8,319

Total sales of available-for-sale securities sold in the year
ended March 31, 2003 amounted to ¥84 million ($699 thou-
sand) and the related gains and losses amounted to ¥27 million
($225 thousand) and ¥0 million ($0 thousand), respectively.
Total sales of available-for-sale securities sold in the year
ended March 31, 2002 and related gain and loss is not imma-
terial. Total sales of available-for-sale securities sold in the
year ended March 31, 2001 amounted to ¥179 million and
the related gain and loss amounted to ¥3 million and ¥62
million, respectively.

Total sales and costs of held-to-maturity debt securities
sold in the year ended March 31, 2003 amounted to ¥475
million ($3,952 thousand) and ¥500 million ($4,160 thou-
sand), respectively, and the related loss amounted to ¥25
million ($208 thousand).

The Companies changed its investment policies and sold a
portion of subordinated debenture, previously defined as
held-to-maturity debt securities, in the year ended March 31,
2003. In accordance with this change in the policies, residual
subordinated debenture was defined as available-for-sale secu-
rities. The impact of the change on consolidated financial
statements is immaterial.

Note 4—Inventories
Inventories at March 31, 2003 and 2002 are summarized as
follows:

Thousands of

Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2003 2002 2003
Finished goods ¥3,934 ¥4,026 $32,729
Work-in-process 1,262 999 10,499
Raw materials and supplies 4,553 4,505 37,879
Timber 34 226 282
Land for sale 19 19 158
¥9,802 ¥9,775 $81,547

Note 5—Assets Pledged
Assets, at book value, pledged as collateral for short-term bank
loans and long-term debt totaling ¥2,288 million ($19,035
thousand) and ¥2,901 million, respectively, at March 31,
2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Thousands of

Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2003 2002 2003
Building ¥ 413 ¥ 458 $ 3,436
Equipment 779 917 6,481
Land 2,247 2,247 18,694
Investments in securities 55 106 457
¥3,494 ¥3,728 $29,068

Note 6—Short-Term Loans and Long-Term Debt
Short-term loans outstanding at March 31, 2003 and 2002
are partially secured with interest of 0.39% to 3.25% per
annum and 0.06% to 3.25% per annum, respectively.
Long-term debt at March 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:
Thousands of

Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2003 2002 2003

Partially secured loans from

banks and unsecured loans from

insurance companies and other

financial institution, 0.6% to

3.74% maturing serially

through 2021 ¥33,607 ¥29,339 $279,592
2.75% unsecured Yen straight

bonds due in 2002 — 10,000 —
2.25% unsecured Yen straight

bonds due in 2002 — 5,000 —
2.10% unsecured Yen straight

bonds due in 2003 5,000 5,000 41,597
1.45% unsecured Yen straight

bonds due in 2005 10,000 10,000 83,195
1.01% unsecured Yen straight

bonds due in 2007 10,000 — 83,195

58,607 59,339 487,579
Less current maturities (9,454) (23,235) (78,652)
Total ¥49,153 ¥36,104 $408,927

The 0.25% Swiss Franc guaranteed notes with detachable
stock warrants in the aggregate principal amount of ¥9,795
million (S.Fr.120,000 thousand) were issued in March 1997
(¥9,379 million at the forward exchange contract rates). The
warrants granted the holders the right to purchase common
stock of the Company through March 20, 2001. During the
year ended March 31, 2001, the Company issued 12,596
thousand shares of common stock in connection with stock
warrants. These Swiss Franc notes with stock warrants were
all redeemed by March 31, 2001.

The annual maturities of long-term debt at March 31, 2003
are as follows:

Thousands of

Year ending March 31, Millions of yen ~ U.S. dollars
2004 ¥ 9,454 $ 78,652
2005 9,213 76,647
2006 13,091 108,910
2007 7,173 59,676
2008 13,613 113,253
2009 and thereafter 6,063 50,441

¥58,607 $487,579

Note 7—Contingencies

Contingencies at March 31, 2003 for loans guaranteed by the
Companies on behalf of third parties amount to ¥915 million
($7,612 thousand), which includes ¥834 million ($6,938
thousand), the Company’s guarantee portion of ¥56,397 mil-
lion ($469,193 thousand) loans jointly guaranteed by the
investors including the Company on behalf of a joint venture.

Note 8—Shareholders’ Equity

Under the Code, at least 50% of the issue price of new shares
is required to be designated as common stock. The portion
which is to be designated as common stock is determined by
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resolution of the Board of Directors. Proceeds in excess of the
amounts designated as common stock are credited to additional
paid-in capital, which is included in capital surplus.

Effective October 1, 2001, the Code was revised that an
amount equal to at least 10% of cash dividends and bonuses
to directors and corporate auditors must be appropriated as a
legal earnings reserve until the total amount of additional
paid-in capital and legal earnings reserve equals 25% of the
common stock issued. This reserve is not available for divi-
dends, but may be used to reduce a deficit by resolution of
the stockholders’ meeting or may be capitalized by resolution
of the Board of Directors. On condition that the total amount
of additional paid-in capital and legal earnings reserve remains
being equals to or exceeding 25% of common stock, they are
available for distribution by the resolution of stockholders’
meeting.

Effective for years commencing on April 1, 2004 or later,
according to the revised local tax law, income tax rates for
enterprise taxes will be reduced as a result of introducing the
assessment by estimation on the basis of the size of business.
Based on the change of income tax rates, for calculation of
deferred income tax assets and liabilities, the Company and
consolidated domestic subsidiaries used the aggregate statu-
tory income tax rates of 40.8% and 39.5% for current items
and non-current items, respectively, at March 31, 2003. As a
result of this change, the amount of deferred tax assets decreased
by ¥52 million ($433 thousand), the amount of income
taxes-deferred increased by ¥44 million ($366 thousand) and
the amount of net unrealized holding loss on securities, net of
tax increased by ¥8 million ($67 thousand).

Significant components of deferred income tax assets and
liabilities at March 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows.

Before the revision, the Companies were required to Thousands of
. leoal . . £ ined Millions of yen U.S. dollars
appr'oprlate as a legal earnings reserve a' portion of retaine 2003 o 2003
earnings equal to at least 10% of any disbursements as an Current
appropriation of retained earnings (including bonuses to Deferred income tax assets:
di d di 1l h dividends) f Unrealized gain from sales
irectors and corporate auditors as well as cash dividends) for of inventories between
each financial period until the reserve equaled 25% of the the Companies ¥ 293 ¥ 303 $ 2,438
mon stock i d Accrued enterprise taxes 212 40 1,764
common s ?C ssued. o Accrued bonuses 655 406 5,449
The maximum amount that the Company can distribute Other 59 44 490
as dividends is calculated based on the non-consolidated Toral deferred income tax assets _¥1,219 ¥ 703 _ 310,141
financial statements of the Company in accordance with the Non-current
Code. Deferred income tax assets:
Employees’ severance and
retirement benefits ¥2,126 ¥1,931 $17,687
Retirement benefits for directors
and corporate auditors 401 343 3,336
Note 9—Income Taxes Unrealized gain from sales of fixed
The Companies are subject to a number of taxes levied on assets between the Companies 1,278 1,224 10,632
. . . T . Net unrealized holding loss
income, which, .m the aggregate, indicate a statutory rate in on securitics 256 672 2,130
Japan of approximately 40.8% for the years ended March 31, Other 391 370 3,253
2003, 2002 and 2001 Total deferred income tax assets 4,452 4,340 37,038
’ i ’ . . L Deferred income tax liabilities:
There are special tax credits applicable to acquisition of Reserve deductible for Japanese
equipment primarily for effective energy utilization. There is a tax purpose (745) (968) (6,198)
. L. X . Reserve for deferred gain on sales
reduction of tax on dividend income from Japanese companies of fixed assets for tax purpose (660) (692) (5,491)
and there is a limit on deduction of certain expenses. Orther (349 (43) (282)
The followi bl . he sienifi diff Total deferred income tax
e following table summarizes the significant differences liabilities (1,439) (1.703) 11,971)
between the statutory tax rate and the Companies’ effective Net deferred income tax assets ~ ¥3,013 ¥2,637 $25,067
tax rate for financial statement purpose for the year ended Net deferred income tax assets 4,232 ¥3.430 $35,208
March 31, 2003:
2003
Statutory tax rate 40.8% .
Non-deductible expenses 1.3 Note 10—Sales to and Purchases from Affiliates
Dividends received not taxable (1.1) Sales to and purchases from affiliates for the years ended
Per capital inhabitants tax 0.6
Adjustment on deferred tax assets due to change in March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:
income tax rate 0.8 Thousands of
Other 2.0 Millions of yen U.S. dollars
Effective tax rate 44.4% 2003 2002 2001 2003
Sales ¥31,952 ¥30,041 ¥32,163 $265,824
Purchases 2,434 1,598 2,694 20,250

Differences between statutory tax rates and the effective tax
rates are not disclosed as differences are immaterial for the
years ended March 31, 2002 and 2001.
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Note 11—Lease Transactions
Lease transactions for the years ended March 31, 2003 and
2002 are as follows:
Finance lease transactions without ownership transfer to lessee
(a) Purchase price equivalent, Accumulated depreciation
equivalent, and Book value equivalent:
Thousands of

Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2003 2002 2003
Machinery and equipment,
and others
Purchase price equivalent ¥2,160 ¥1,965 $17,970
Accumulated depreciation equivalent 1,125 972 9,359
Book value equivalent 1,035 993 8,611

Purchase price equivalent is calculated using the inclusive-
of-interest method.

(b) Lease commitments:
Thousands of

Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2003 2002 2003
Due within one year ¥ 324 ¥301 $2,696
Due after one year 711 692 5,915
¥1,035 ¥993 $8,611

Lease commitments are calculated using the inclusive-of-
interest method.

(c) Lease payments and Depreciation equivalent:
Thousands of

Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2003 2002 2001 2003
Lease payments ¥302 ¥298 ¥290 $2,512
Depreciation
equivalent 302 298 290 2,512

(d) Calculation method of depreciation equivalent:
Depreciation equivalent is computed on a straight-line
method over the lease period without residual value.

Operating lease transactions
Lease commitments under non-cancelable operating leases for
the year ended March 31, 2003:

Thousands of
Millions of yen ~ U.S. dollars

Due within one year ¥ 39 $ 324
Due after one year 346 2,879
¥385 $3,203

There were no lease commitments under non-cancelable
operating leases at March 31, 2002.

Note 12—Derivative Transactions

Derivative financial instruments currently utilized by the
Companies include foreign currency forward contracts, for-
eign currency options and interest rate swap contracts, all of
which are for hedging purposes.

The Companies use foreign currency forward contracts
and foreign currency options to offset exposure to market
risks arising from changes in foreign exchange rates, and
interest rate swap contracts to lower the interest costs related
to debts and reduce the Companies’ exposure to adverse
movements in interest rates.

Forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign currency options
and interest rate swap contracts are subject to risks of foreign
exchange rate changes and interest rate changes, respectively.

The derivative transactions are executed and managed by
the Company’s Corporate Planning and Finance Department
in accordance with the established policies and within the
specified limits on the amounts of derivative transactions
allowed. The Manager of the Corporate Planning and Finance
Department reports information on derivative transactions to
the Board of Directors quarterly.

The following summarizes hedging derivative financial
instruments used by the Companies and items hedged:

Hedging instruments: Hedged items:
Forward foreign exchange  Foreign currency trade
contracts and foreign payables
currency options
Interest rate swap Interest on loans payable

contracts

The Companies evaluate hedge effectiveness by comparing
the cumulative changes in cash flows from or the changes in
fair value of hedged items and the corresponding changes in
the hedging derivative instruments. If the percentage changes
of hedged items and hedging instruments, approximately
range from 80% to 125%, hedging transactions are considered
to be effective.

The following tables summarize market value information
as of March 31, 2003 and 2002 of derivative transactions for
which hedge accounting has not been applied:

Forward foreign exchange contracts
The Companies had no outstanding forward foreign exchange
contracts for which hedge accounting had not been applied at
March 31, 2003.

The Companies had outstanding forward foreign exchange
contracts at March 31, 2002 as below:

Millions of yen
2002
Contract amount Fair ~ Recognized
in yen equivalent value  gain (loss)
Due within  Due after
oneyear oneyear  Total
Buy, U.S. dollars ¥49 ¥— ¥49 ¥52 ¥3

Foreign currency options
The Companies had no outstanding foreign currency options
at March 31, 2003.
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The Companies had outstanding foreign currency options
at March 31, 2002 as below:

Millions of yen
2002
Contract amount Fair ~ Recognized
in yen equivalent value  gain (loss)

Due within  Due after
oneyear  oneyear  Total

Sell Option

Put, U.S. dollars ¥9,213 ¥— ¥9.213

Option premium 96 — 96 ¥92 ¥4
Buy Option

Call, U.S. dollars ¥4,512 ¥—  ¥4512

Option premium 89 — 89 ¥80 ¥(9)

Interest rates swap contracts

The Companies had no outstanding interest rate swap con-
tracts for which hedge accounting had not been applied at
March 31, 2003 and 2002.

Note 13—Employees’ Severance and Retirement Benefits
As explained in Note 1(j), effective April 1, 2000, the Com-
panies adopted the new accounting standard for employees’
severance and retirement benefits, under which the liabilities
and expenses for severance and retirement benefits are deter-
mined based on the amounts obtained by actuarial calculations.

The liability for severance and retirement benefits included
in the liability section of the consolidated balance sheets as of
March 31, 2003 and 2002 consists of the following:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2003 2002 2003
Projected benefit obligation ¥(9,090) ¥(9,154)  $(75,624)
Unrecognized actuarial differences 475 948 3,952
Less fair value of pension assets 2,786 2,386 23,178
Prepaid pension costs (347) (—) (2,887)
Liability for severance and
retirement benefits ¥(6,176) ¥(5,820)  $(51,381)
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Included in the consolidated statement of income for the
years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 are severance
and retirement benefit expenses comprised of the following:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2003 2002 2001 2003
Service costs - benefits
earned during the year ¥590 ¥526 ¥483 $4,909
Interest cost on projected
benefit obligation 208 199 207 1,730
Expected return on plan
assets (19) (15) (8) (158)
Amortization of actuarial
differences 176 85 — 1,464
One-time amortization of
prior service costs — 681 — —
One-time amortization of
net transition obligation — — 1,952 —
Severance and retirement
benefit expenses ¥955 ¥1,476 ¥2,634 $7,945

The discount rates used by the Companies are mainly 2.5%,
2.5% and mainly 3.0% as of years ended March 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively. The rates of expected return on
plan assets used by the Companies are mainly 1.0%, 1.0%
and 1.0% as of years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The estimated amount of all retirement benefits
to be paid at the future retirement date is allocated equally to
each service year using the estimated number of total service
years. Actuarial gains/losses are recognized in statement of
income using the declining-balance method over mainly 10
years, beginning the following fiscal year of recognition.

Note 14—Segment Information
Business segment information
The Companies are primarily in operation with the following
three businesses.
(1) Pulp related products:
Manufacture and sale of pulp, paper products

(2) Paper process products:
Manufacture and sale of paper process products

(3) Other:
Operations in businesses of timber, construction, manu-
facture and sale of machinery, import and sale of materials
including pulp, real estate, insurance agency, transporta-
tion and warehouse, wholesale of used paper and other.

During the year ended March 31, 2003, the Companies regrouped its business segments as above in order to reflect actual
business circumstances more precise and to disclose segment business information more obvious. Previously, this business segment
was divided into “Pulp related products” and “Other”, and “Paper process products” was included in “Pulp related products”.
The previously reported business segment information has been restated to conform with current presentation.

Millions of yen
2003
Pulp related Paper process Corporate or

products products Other Total elimination Consolidated

Sales:
Unaffiliated customer ¥124,936 ¥10,864 ¥ 6,356 ¥142,156 ¥ — ¥142,156
Intersegment 918 67 17,226 18,211 (18,211) —
Net sales 125,854 10,931 23,582 160,367 (18,211) 142,156
Operating expenses 116,491 10,346 22,987 149,824 (18,383) 131,441
Operating income ¥ 9,363 ¥ 585 ¥ 595 ¥ 10,543 ¥ 172 ¥ 10,715
Identifiable assets ¥197,065 ¥ 8,261 ¥13,561 ¥218,887 ¥ (5,591) ¥213,296
Depreciation and amortization ¥ 13,460 ¥ 401 ¥ 409 ¥ 14,270 ¥ (333) ¥ 13,937
Capital expenditures ¥ 10,442 ¥ 748 ¥ 1,122 ¥ 12,312 ¥ (516) ¥ 11,796

Millions of yen
2002
Pulp related Paper process Corporate or

products products Other Total elimination Consolidated

Sales:
Unaffiliated customer ¥118,731 ¥10,200 ¥ 7,241 ¥136,172 ¥ — ¥136,172
Intersegment 848 43 19,164 20,055 (20,055) —
Net sales 119,579 10,243 26,405 156,227 (20,055) 136,172
Operating expenses 110,803 9,914 25,600 146,317 (20,209) 126,108
Operating income ¥ 8,776 ¥ 329 ¥ 805 ¥ 9910 ¥ 154 ¥ 10,064
Identifiable assets ¥203,437 ¥ 8,053 ¥14,221 ¥225,711 ¥ (4,821) ¥220,890
Depreciation and amortization ¥ 13,539 ¥ 429 ¥ 439 ¥ 14,407 ¥ (316) ¥ 14,091
Capital expenditures ¥ 14,767 ¥ 410 ¥ 369 ¥ 15,546 ¥ (524) ¥ 15,022

As explained in Note 1 (h), in the year ended March 31, 2002, the Company changed the depreciation method for pulp
manufacturing and steam generator equipments located in Niigata Mill from the straight-line method to the declining-balance
method. As a result of this change, operating income of “Pulp related products segment” decreased by ¥1,431 million.

Millions of yen
2001
Pulp related Paper process Corporate or

products products Other Total elimination Consolidated

Sales:
Unaffiliated customer ¥127,766 ¥9,573 ¥ 8,101 ¥145,440 ¥ — ¥145,440
Intersegment 905 51 17,386 18,342 (18,342) —
Net sales 128,671 9,624 25,487 163,782 (18,342) 145,440
Operating expenses 114,047 9,160 24,713 147,920 (18,712) 129,208
Operating income ¥ 14,624 ¥ 464 ¥ 774 ¥ 15,862 ¥ 370 ¥ 16,232
Identifiable assets ¥206,950 ¥8,334 ¥13,750 ¥229,034 ¥ (453) ¥228,581
Depreciation and amortization ¥ 12,311 ¥ 396 ¥ 479 ¥ 13,186 ¥ (263) ¥ 12,923
Capital expenditures ¥ 7,081 ¥ 644 ¥ 329 ¥ 8,054 ¥ (251) ¥ 7,803

As explained in Note 1 (j), effective April 1, 2000, the Companies adopted the new accounting standard for employees’
severance and retirement benefits. As a result of the adoption of new accounting standard, in the year ended March 31, 2001,
operating income of “Pulp related products segment”, “Paper process products segment” and “Other segment” decreased by
¥44 million, increased by ¥54 million and decreased by ¥62 million, respectively, compared with what would have been
recorded under the previous accounting standard.

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2003
Pulp related Paper process Corporate or

products products Other Total elimination Consolidated
Sales:
Unaffiliated customer $1,039,401 $90,383 $ 52,878 $1,182,662 $ — $1,182,662
Intersegment 7,637 557 143,311 151,505 (151,505) —
Net sales 1,047,038 90,940 196,189 1,334,167 (151,505) 1,182,662
Operating expenses 969,143 86,073 191,240 1,246,456 (152,937) 1,093,519
Operating income $ 77,895 $ 4,867 $ 4,949 $ 87,711 $ 1,432 $ 89,143
Identifiable assets $1,639,476 $68,727 $112,820 $1,821,023 $ (46,514) $1,774,509
Depreciation and amortization $ 111,980 $ 3,336 $ 3,403 $ 118,719 $ (2,771) $ 115,948
Capital expenditures $ 86,872 $ 6,223 $ 9,334 $ 102,429 $  (4,293) $ 98,136
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Geographic segment information
Geographic segment information is omitted due to no over-

seas subsidiaries or significant overseas branch.

Overseas sales information
Opverseas sales information is omitted as overseas sales are less
than 10% of consolidated net sales.

Note 15—Effect of bank holiday on March 31, 2002
As financial institutions in Japan were closed on March 31,
2002, notes maturing on March 31, 2002 were settled on the
following business days, April 1, 2002. The amounts actually
settled on the first business day in April are as follows:

Millions of yen
Notes receivable, trade ¥ 504
Notes payable, trade 2,465
Notes payable, other 344
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Note 16—Subsequent Event
At the annual shareholders’ meeting held on June 27, 2003,
the shareholders of the Company approved the following:

(a) Payment of a cash dividend of ¥6.00 ($0.05) per share to
holders of record as of March 31, 2003 or a total of ¥984
million ($8,186 thousand).

(b) Payment of bonuses to directors of ¥63 million ($524
thousand)

The 0.51% unsecured yen straight bonds in the aggre-
gate principal amount of ¥10,000 million ($83,195 thou-
sand) due in 2008 were issued by the Company on May
21, 2003.

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD. (a Japanese corpora-
tion) and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders” equity
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2003, expressed in Japanese yen. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these

consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2003, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan as described in Note 1 (a) to the consolidated financial statements.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the following.

(1) As discussed in Notes 1 (d), 1 (e) and 1 (j) to the consolidated financial statements, HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD.
and domestic subsidiaries prospectively adopted the new Japanese accounting standards for (a) market valuation of avail-
able-for-sale securities effective April 1, 2001 and (b) financial instruments and employees’ retirement benefits and the
revised Japanese accounting standard for foreign currency translation effective April 1, 2000.

(2) As discussed in Note 1 (h) to the consolidated financial statements, HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD. changed the
depreciation method of machinery and equipment effective April 1, 2001.

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2003 have been translated into United States
dollars solely for the convenience of the reader. We have recomputed the translation and, in our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements expressed in Japanese yen have been translated into United States dollars on the basis set forth in Note 1 (a)
to the consolidated financial statements.

Candito G

Tokyo, Japan Asahi & Co.
June 27, 2003
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Non-Consolidated Balance Sheets

HOKUETSU PAPER MILLES, LTD.
March 31, 2003 and 2002

Thousand of

U.S. dollars
Millions of yen (Note 1)
ASSETS 2003 2002 2003
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and deposits ¥ 3,520 ¥ 1,107 $ 29,285
Notes and accounts receivable (Note 13):
Trade 28,773 34,941 239,376
Subsidiaries and affiliates 13,739 12,904 114,301
Other 353 307 2,937
Inventories (Note 3) 7,759 8,351 64,551
Prepaid expenses and other (Note 10) 2,077 1,711 17,279
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 56,221 59,321 467,729
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:
Land and timberland 7,986 7,161 66,439
Buildings and structures 43,620 43,187 362,895
Machinery and equipment 234,048 230,381 1,947,155
Construction in progress 4,929 2,045 41,007
290,583 282,774 2,417,496
Less accumulated depreciation (180,458) (169,270) (1,501,315)
NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 110,125 113,504 916,181
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS:
Investments in securities (Note 4) 14,180 15,863 117,970
Investments in and receivables from subsidiaries and affiliates (Note 2) 4,018 3,429 33,428
Long-term loans receivable 347 373 2,887
Guarantee deposits 3,065 3,285 25,499
Other (Note 10) 4,577 4,216 38,078
Allowance for doubtful accounts (340) (354) (2,829)
TOTAL INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS 25,847 26,812 215,033
¥192,193 ¥199,637 $1,598,943

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

RS 70

Thousand of

Millions of yen U(IEI-OC:(;HIH)IS
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 2003 2002 2003
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Short-term loans (Note 5) ¥ 18,400 ¥ 23,800 $ 153,078
Current maturities of long-term debt (Note 5) 8,748 22,523 72,779
Notes and accounts payable (Note 13):
Trade 11,445 14,537 95,216
Subsidiaries and affiliates 3,265 4,671 27,163
Other 1,691 2,521 14,068
Income taxes payable (Note 10) 2,057 109 17,113
Accrued expenses 4,510 4,422 37,521
Other 1,954 1,447 16,257
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 52,070 74,030 433,195
LONG-TERM DEBT (Note 5),
less current maturities 46,726 33,276 388,735
EMPLOYEES’ SEVERANCE AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS 5,426 5,101 45,141
RETIREMENT BENEFITS FOR DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE AUDITORS 834 674 6,938
OTHER 144 400 1,199
CONTINGENCIES (Note 6)
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Common stock (Note 7):
authorized—260,000,000 shares;
issued and outstanding—164,052,054 shares 26,821 26,821 223,136
Capital surplus:
Additional paid-in capital (Note 7) 25,094 25,094 208,769
25,094 25,094 208,769
Retained earnings:
Legal earnings reserve (Note 8) 2,260 2,260 18,802
Other retained earnings 33,256 32,671 276,672
35,516 34,931 295,474
Net unrealized holding loss on securities, net of tax (389) (683) (3,236)
Treasury stock (Note 9) (49) 7) (408)
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 86,993 86,156 723,735
¥192,193 ¥199,637 $1,598,943
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Non-Consolidated Statements of Income
HOKUETSU PAPER MILLES, LTD.
Years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Non-Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

HOKUETSU PAPER MILLES, LTD.
Years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

%guzaorﬁi;)sf Millions of yen :
Millions of yen (.I\fore ) Number of Common Aggiictii»oiﬁal eal;i%f;lgs reorat&eerd lﬁ?ai%rfgigzgi Treasury
2003 2002 2001 2003 shares stock capital reserve earnings  securities, net of tax stock ”
NET SALES (Note 11) ¥125,763 ¥119,477  ¥128,791  $1,046,281 Balance at April 1, 2000 151,456,376 ¥23,307 ¥20,941 ¥2,018 ¥27,504 ¥ — ¥ (1)
COST OF SALES (Note 11) 99,601 94,626 98,106 828,627 Net income — — — — 6,222 — —
Gross profit 26,162 24,851 30,685 217,654 Sales of treasury stock, net — — — — — — 0
Cash dividends paid (¥8.50 per share) — — — — (1,303) — —
SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 17,354 16,543 16,462 144,376 Transfer to legal earnings reserve
Operating income 8,808 8,308 14,223 73,278 (Note 8) — — — 136 (136) — —
Bonuses to directors — — — — (56) — —
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES): Exercise of warrants (Note 4) 12,595,678 3,514 4,153 — — — —
Interest and dividend income 371 432 362 3,087
Interest expenses (1,178) (1,375) (1,569) (9,800) Balance at March 31, 2001 164,052,054 26,821 25,094 2,154 32,231 — (1)
Gain (Loss) on sales of securities, net 0 — (61) 0 Net income — — — — 2,257 — —
Loss on devaluation of investments in securities (4,055) (2,580) (171) (33,735) Adoption of market valuation rule for
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (525) (1,124) (705) (4,368) available-for-sale securities — — — — — (683) —
Loss on devaluation of golf memberships 8) (6) (140) (67) Purchases of treasury stock, net — — — — — — (6)
One-time amortization of net transition obligation — — (1,739) — Cash dividends paid (¥10.00 per share) — — — — (1,641) — —
One-time amortization of prior service costs — (681) — — Transfer to legal earnings reserve
Other, net 647 794 449 5,382 (Note 8) — — — 106 (106) — —
(4,748) (4,540) (3,574) (39,501) Bonuses to directors — — — — (70) — —
Income before income taxes 4,060 3,768 10,649 33,777 Balance at March 31, 2002 164,052,054 26,821 25,094 2,260 32,671 (683) (7)
Net income — — — — 2,287 — —
INCOME TAXES (Note 10): Adjustment of net unrealized holding
Current 2,558 957 5,924 21,281 loss on securities, net of tax — — — — — 294 —
Deferred (785) 554 (1,497) (6,531) Purchases of treasury stock, net — — — — — — (42)
1,773 1,511 4,427 14,750 Cash dividends paid (¥10.00 per share) — — — — (1,639) — —
Bonuses to directors — — — — (63) — —
NET INCOME ¥ 2,287 ¥ 2,257 ¥ 6,222 $ 19,027
Balance at March 31, 2003 164,052,054 ¥26,821 ¥25,094 ¥2,260 ¥33,256 ¥(389) ¥(49)
U.S. dollars
Yen (Note 1) Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)
2003 2002 2001 2003 Additional Legal Other Net unrealized
Amounts per share of common stock (Note 1): Nusmbzr of Ct;l:;rcnon paid;ir; earsmngs ;etaiped holltg'ing losts ofn[ Trfasiry
Net income ¥13‘56 ¥13.76 ¥39.98 $0.11 ares Cﬁpl al reserve arnlngs securities, net or tax stoc
Dl > " o o Bal;}nce at March 31, 2002 164,052,054  $223,136  $208,769  $18,802  $271,805  $(5682)  $ (58)
.. . et income — — — — 19,027 — —
Cash dividends applicable to the year 10.00 10.00 10.00 0.08 Adjustment of net unrealized holding
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. loss on securities, net of tax — — — . — 2,446 —
Purchases of treasury stock, net — — — — — — (350)
Cash dividends paid ($0.08 per share) — — — — (13,6306) — —
Bonuses to directors — — — — (524) — —
Balance at March 31, 2003 164,052,054 $223,136 $208,769 $18,802 $276,672 $(3,236) $(408)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements

HOKUETSU PAPER MILLES, LTD.

Note 1—Summary of Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Presentation of Non-consolidated Financial
Statements
Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd. (hereafter, “the Company”)
maintains its official accounting records in accordance with
the provisions set forth in the Japanese Commercial Code
(hereafter, “the Code”) and accounting principles and practices
generally accepted in Japan (hereafter, “Japanese GAAP”).
The accompanying non-consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of the Company only. Investments in
subsidiaries and affiliated companies are not consolidated or
accounted for using the equity method. They are stated at
costs. Certain accounting principles and practices generally
accepted in Japan are different from International Accounting
Standards and standards in other countries in certain respects
as to application and disclosure requirements. Accordingly,
the accompanying non-consolidated financial statements are
intended for use by those who are informed about Japanese
accounting principles and practices.

The accompanying non-consolidated financial statements
have been restructured and translated into English (with some
expanded descriptions and the inclusion of statements of share-
holders’ equity) from the non-consolidated financial statements
of the Company prepared in accordance with Japanese GAAP
and filed with the appropriate Local Finance Bureau of the
Ministry of Finance as required by the Securities and Exchange
Law. Some supplementary information included in the statu-
tory Japanese language non-consolidated financial statements,
but not required for fair presentation, is not presented in the
accompanying non-consolidated financial statements.

The translations of the Japanese yen amounts into U.S.
dollars are included solely for the convenience of readers,
using the prevailing exchange rate at March 31, 2003, which
was ¥120.20 to U.S.$1.00. The convenience translations
should not be construed as representations that the Japanese
yen amounts have been, could have been, or could in the
future be, converted into U.S. dollars at this or any other rate
of exchange.

(b) Translation of Foreign Currencies

Short-term receivables and payables denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into Japanese yen at the year-end
rate. Prior to April 1, 2000, long-term receivables and payable
denominated in foreign currencies were translated at historical
rates.

Effective April 1, 2000, the Company adopted the revised
accounting standard for foreign currency translation, “Opin-
ion Concerning Revision of Accounting Standard for Foreign
Currency Translation”, issued by the Business Accounting
Deliberation Council on October 22, 1999 (the “Revised
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Accounting Standard”). Under the Revised Accounting Stan-
dard, long-term receivables and payables denominated in
foreign currencies are also translated into Japanese yen at the
year-end rate.

There was no effect on the non-consolidated statement of
income for the year ended March 31, 2001 of adopting the
Revised Accounting Standard.

(c) Securities

Effective April 1, 2000, the Company adopted the new Japan-
ese accounting standard for financial instruments (“Opinion
Concerning Establishment of Accounting Standard for
Financial Instruments” issued by the Business Accounting
Deliberation Council on January 22, 1999).

Upon applying the new accounting standard, all com-
panies are required to examine the intent of holding each
security and classify those securities as (a) securities held for
trading purposes (hereafter, “trading securities”), (b) debt
securities intended to be held to maturity (hereafter, “held-to-
maturity debt securities”), (c) equity securities issued by sub-
sidiaries and affiliates, or (d) for all other securities that are
not classified in any of the above categories (hereafter, “avail-
able-for-sale securities”). The company does not have the
securities defined as (a) above in the years ended March 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001. Also, there were no securities defined
as (b) above in the year ended March 31, 2003.

Held-to-maturity debt securities are stated at amortized
cost. Equity securities issued by subsidiaries and affiliates are
stated at moving-average cost.

If the market value of held-to-maturity debt securities,
equity securities issued by subsidiaries and affiliates, and
available-for-sale securities, declines significantly, such securi-
ties are stated at fair market value and the difference between
fair market value and the carrying amount is recognized as
loss in the period of the decline. Debt securities with no avail-
able fair market value are stated at amortized cost, net of the
amount considered not collectible. If the fair market value of
equity securities is not readily available, such securities should
be written down to net asset value with a corresponding
charge in the statement of income in the event net asset value
declines significantly. In these cases, such fair market value
or the net asset value will be the carrying amount of the
securities at the beginning of the next year.

In the year ended March 31, 2001, as a result of adopting
the new accounting standard for financial instruments,
income before income taxes increased by A1,907 million.
Also, based on the examination of the intent of holding each
security upon application of the new accounting standard on
April 1, 2000, held-to-maturity debt securities and available-

for-sale securities maturing within one year from the balance

sheet date are included in current assets, and other securities
are included in investments and other assets.

Effective April 1, 2001, available-for-sale securities with
available fair market values are stated at fair market value.
Unrealized gain and unrealized loss on these securities are
reported, net of applicable income taxes, as a separate com-
ponent of shareholders” equity. Realized gain and loss on sale
of such securities are computed using moving-average cost.

In the year ended March 31, 2002, as a result of adopting
the new accounting standard for market valuation of available-
for-sale securities, net unrealized holding loss on securities,
net of tax and deferred income tax assets amounted to ¥683
million and ¥471 million, respectively.

(d) Inventories

Inventories are stated at cost. Cost is determined by the
monthly average method for raw materials, supplies and fin-
ished goods. Cost of work-in-process is determined using the
FIFO (first-in, first-out) method. The specific identification
method is used to determine the cost of timber.

(e) Property, Plant, Equipment and Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Buildings
owned by the Company, machinery and equipments, excluding
pulp manufacturing and steam generator equipments, located
in Niigata Mill, and fiber board manufacturing equipments
located in Nagaoka Mill are depreciated using the straight-
line method over the useful lives prescribed by the Japanese
tax regulations. The other tangible fixed assets are depreciated
using the declining-balance method at rates determined based
on the useful lives prescribed by the Japanese tax regulations.
The cost and accumulated depreciation applicable to assets
retired or otherwise disposed of are eliminated from the
related accounts and the gain or loss on disposal is credited

or charged to income.

In the year ended March 31, 2002, the Company changed
the depreciation method for pulp manufacturing and steam
generator equipments located in Niigata Mill from the straight-
line method to the declining-balance method in order to
achieve a better allocation of depreciation expenses over the
lives of those assets. As a result of this change, depreciation
expense for the year ended March 31, 2002 increased by
¥1,576 million, operating income and income before income
taxes decreased by ¥1,449 million, respectively.

Expenditures for new facilities and those that substantially
increase the useful lives of existing plant and equipment are
capitalized. Maintenance, repair and minor renewals are
charged to expenses as incurred.

(f) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company provides the allowance for doubtful accounts

in an amount sufficient to cover probable losses on collection
by estimating individually uncollectible amounts in addition

to applying an actual rate of bad debts incurred in the past.

(g) Finance Leases
Finance leases, except those leases for which the ownership of
the leased assets is considered to be transferred to the lessee,

are accounted for in the same manner as operating leases.

(h) Employees’ Severance and Retirement Benefits
Employees severing their connections with the Company on
retirement or otherwise are entitled, in most circumstances,
to a lump-sum severance payment and annuity payments
based on current rates of pay, length of service and certain
other factors. Most employees are covered by two retirement
benefit plans, an unfunded lump-sum severance payment plan
and a funded non-contributory defined benefit pension plan.

Effective April 1, 2000, the Company adopted the new
accounting standard, “Opinion on Setting Accounting Stan-
dard for Employees’ Severance and Pension Benefits”, issued
by the Business Accounting Deliberation Council on June
16, 1998 (hereafter, “the New Accounting Standard”).

Under the New Accounting Standard, the liabilities and
expenses for severance and retirement benefits are determined
based on the amounts actuarially calculated using certain
assumptions.

The Company provided allowance for employees’ sever-
ance and retirement benefits at the balance sheet date based
on the estimated amounts of projected benefit obligation and
the fair value of the plan assets at that date.

The excess of the projected benefit obligation over the total
of the fair value of pension assets as of April 1, 2000 and the
liabilities for severance and retirement benefits recorded as of
April 1, 2000 (hereafter, “the net transition obligation”)
amounted to ¥1,739 million. The entire net transition oblig-
ation was recognized as expenses for the year ended March
31, 2001.

As a result of the adoption of the new accounting standard,
in the year ended March 31, 2001, severance and retirement
benefit expenses increased by A1,700 million and income
before income taxes decreased by A1,702 million compared
with what would have been recorded under the previous
accounting standard.

(i) Retirement Benefits for Directors and Corporate
Auditors
Directors who are the members of the Board of Directors and
corporate auditors severing their connections with the Com-
pany upon retirement or otherwise are entitled, in most circum-
stances, to lump-sum severance payments based on current
rates of pay, length of services and certain other factors, includ-
ing contributions to the Company. The Company accrues
100% of obligations based on the Company’s rules required
under the assumption that all directors and corporate statutory
auditors retired at the balance sheet date.

(j) Issuance Costs and of Bonds Discounts of Notes

Expenditures for issuance costs of bonds are charged to oper-
ations as incurred. Discounts on Swiss Franc guaranteed notes
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with warrants at issuance were capitalized and all amortized

over the bond term by the end of March 31, 2001.

(k) Derivatives and hedge accounting

The new accounting standard for financial instruments, effective
from the year ended March 31, 2001, requires companies to
state derivative financial instruments at fair value and to recog-
nize changes in the fair value as gain or loss unless derivative
financial instruments are used for hedging purposes.

If derivative financial instruments are used as hedges and
meet certain hedging criteria, the Company defers recogni-
tion of gain or loss resulting from changes in fair value of
derivative financial instruments until the related loss or gain
on the hedged items is recognized.

Also, if interest rate swap contracts are used as hedges and
meet certain hedging criteria, the net amount to be paid or
received under the interest rate swap contract is added to or
deducted from the interest on the assets or liabilities for which
the swap contract was executed.

(1) Income Taxes

The Company recognizes tax effects of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for tax
and financial reporting. Under the accounting standard, the
provision for income taxes is computed based on the pretax
income included in the non-consolidated statements of
income. The asset and liability approach is used to recognize
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax
consequences of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and amounts used for income tax purposes.

(m)Bonuses to Directors and Corporate Auditors
Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors are subject to
approval by the shareholders and are accounted for as an
appropriation of retained earnings for the period in which
payment is made.

(n)Per Share Information

Net income per share is computed based upon the average
number of shares of common stock outstanding during the
period. Diluted net income per share is not disclosed for the
years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, as Swiss Franc
guaranteed notes with detachable stock warrants were all
redeemed as of March 27, 2001, and the Company has not

had any notes with warrants or convertible bonds for the
years ended March 31, 2003 and 2002.

Effective April 1, 2002, the Company adopted the new
accounting standard for earnings per share and related guidance
(Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 2, “Accounting
Standard for Earnings Per Share” and Financial Standards
Implementation Guidance No. 4, “Implementation Guid-
ance for Accounting Standard for Earnings Per Share”, issued
by the Accounting Standards Board of Japan on September
25,2002).

Earnings per share for the years ended March 31, 2002 and
2001 would have been reported as follows, if this new accounting
standard were applied retroactively.

2002 2001

Net income ¥13.37 ¥39.62
Diluted net income — —

Cash dividends per share have been presented on an
accrual basis and include dividends to be approved after the
balance sheet date, but applicable to the year then ended.

(0)Accounting Standard for Treasury Stock and
Reversal of Statutory Reserves
Effective April 1, 2002, the Company adopted the new
accounting standard for treasury stock and reversal of statu-
tory reserves (Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 1,
“Accounting Standard for Treasury Stock and Reversal of
Statutory Reserves”, issued by the Accounting Standards Board
of Japan on February 21, 2002). The effect of adopting the
new accounting standard on the statement of income for the
year ended March 31, 2003 was immaterial.

(p) Use of Estimate

The non-consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in Japan and, as such, include amounts based on informed
estimates and judgements of management with consideration
given to materiality. Actual results could differ from those

estimates.

(q) Reclassifications

Certain prior years amounts have been reclassified to conform
to the current year’s presentation. These changes had no impact
on previously reported results of operations or shareholders’

equity.

Note 2—Equity Securities Issued by Subsidiaries and Affiliates
At March 31, 2003 and 2002 book value, market value and net unrealized gain (loss) of equity securities issued by affiliates,

with available market values, are as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars
2003 2002 2003
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Book value  Market value  gain (loss) Book value  Market value  gain (loss) Book value  Market value  gain (loss)
Equity securities issued by affiliates ¥36 ¥414 ¥378 ¥36 ¥386 ¥350 $300 $3,444 $3,144

Equity securities issued by subsidiaries had no available market values.
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Note 3—Inventories
Inventories at March 31, 2003 and 2002 are summarized as

follows:
Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2003 2002 2003
Finished goods ¥3,123 ¥3,431 $25,982
Work-in-process 767 657 6,381
Raw materials and supplies 3,868 4,081 32,180
Timber 1 182 8
¥7,759 ¥8,351 $64,551

Note 4—Assets Pledged
Assets, at book value, pledged as collateral for long-term debt
of a subsidiary to the amount of ¥100 million ($832 thousand)

at March 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:
Thousands of

Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2003 2002 2003
Investments in securities ¥55 ¥106 $458

Note 5—Short-Term Loans and Long-Term Debt
All of short-term loans outstanding at March 31, 2003 and
2002 are unsecured with interest of 0.39% to 0.60% per
annum and 0.06% to 0.64% per annum, respectively.

Long-term debt at March 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:
Thousands of

Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2003 2002 2003
Unsecured loans from banks,
insurance companies and other
financial institutions, 0.72% to
3.74%, maturing serially
through 2021 ¥30,474 ¥25,799 $253,527
2.75% unsecured Yen straight
bonds due in 2002 — 10,000 —
2.25% unsecured Yen straight
bonds due in 2002 — 5,000 —
2.10% unsecured Yen straight
bonds due in 2003 5,000 5,000 41,597
1.45% unsecured Yen straight
bonds due in 2005 10,000 10,000 83,195
1.01% unsecured Yen straight
bonds due in 2007 10,000 — 83,195
55,474 55,799 461,514
Less current maturities (8,748) (22,523) (72,779)
Total ¥46,726 ¥33,276 $388,735

The 0.25% Swiss Franc guaranteed notes with detachable
stock warrants in the aggregate principal amount of ¥9,795
million (S.Fr.120,000 thousand) were issued in March 1997
(¥9,379 million at the forward exchange contract rates). The
warrants granted the holders the right to purchase common
stock of the Company through March 20, 2001. During the
year ended March 31, 2001, the Company issued 12,596
thousand shares of common stock in connection with stock
warrants. These Swiss Franc notes with stock warrants were

all redeemed by March 31, 2001.

The annual maturities of long-term debt at March 31, 2003
are as follows:

Thousands of
Year ending March 31, Millions of yen ~ U.S. dollars
2004 ¥ 8,748 $ 72,779
2005 8,330 69,301
2006 12,453 103,602
2007 6,852 57,005
2008 13,302 110,666
2009 and thereafter 5,789 48,161

¥55,474 $461,514

Note 6—Contingencies

Contingencies at March 31, 2003 for loans guaranteed by the
Company on behalf of its subsidiaries, affiliates and third
parties amount to ¥2,517 million ($20,940 thousand), which
includes ¥834 million ($6,938 thousand), the Company’s
guarantee portion of ¥56,397 million ($469,193 thousand)
loans jointly guaranteed by the investors including the
Company on behalf of a joint venture.

Note 7—Common Stock and Additional Paid-In Capital
Under the Code, at least 50% of the issue price of new shares
is required to be designated as common stock. The portion
which is to be designated as common stock is determined by
resolution of the Board of Directors. Proceeds in excess of the
amounts designated as common stock are credited to additional
paid-in capital.

Note 8—Legal Earnings Reserve
Effective October 1, 2001, the Code was revised that an amount
equal to at least 10% of cash dividends and bonuses to direc-
tors and corporate auditors must be appropriated as a legal
earnings reserve until the total amount of additional paid-in
capital and legal earnings reserve equals 25% of the common
stock issued. This reserve is not available for dividends, but
may be used to reduce a deficit by resolution of the stockhold-
ers’ meeting or may be capitalized by resolution of the Board
of Directors. On condition that the total amount of additional
paid-in capital and legal earnings reserve remains being equal
to or exceeding 25% of common stock, they are available for
distribution by the resolution of stockholders’ meeting.
Before the revision, the Company was required to appro-
priate as a legal earnings reserve a portion of retained earnings
equal to at least 10% of any disbursements as an appropria-
tion of retained earnings (including bonuses to directors and
corporate auditors as well as cash dividends) for each financial
period until the reserve equaled 25% of the common stock
issued.
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Note 9—Treasury Stock

Effective from the year ended March 31, 2002, the Company
presents treasury stock as a deduction from shareholders’
equity on the balance sheet in accordance with the change in
Japanese disclosure requirements. Treasury stock included in
current assets in 2001 has been reclassified to conform with
the 2002 presentation.

Note 10—Income Taxes

The Company is subject to a number of taxes levied on income,
which, in the aggregate, indicate a statutory rate in Japan of
approximately 40.8% for the years ended March 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001.

There are special tax credits applicable to acquisition of
equipment primarily for effective energy utilization. There is a
reduction of tax on dividend income from Japanese companies
and there is a limit on deduction of certain expenses.

The following table summarizes the significant differences
between the statutory tax rate and the Company’s effective
tax rate for financial statement purpose for the year ended
March 31, 2003:

2003
Statutory tax rate 40.8%
Non-deductible expenses 1.2
Dividends received not taxable (1.4)
Per capital inhabitants tax 0.6
Adjustment on deferred tax assets due to change in
income tax rate 0.9
Other 1.6
Effective tax rate 43.7%

Differences between statutory tax rates and the effective tax
rates are not disclosed as differences are immaterial for the
years ended March 31, 2002 and 2001.

Effective for years commencing on April 1, 2004 or later,
according to the revised local tax law, income tax rates for
enterprise taxes will be reduced as a result of introducing the
assessment by estimation on the basis of the size of business.
Based on the change of income tax rates, for calculation of
deferred income tax assets and liabilities, the Company used
the aggregate statutory income tax rates of 40.8% and 39.5%
for current items and non-current items, respectively, at March
31, 2003. As a result of this change, the amount of deferred
tax assets which are included in “Other” in investments and
other assets section decreased by ¥45 million ($374 thou-
sand), the amount of income taxes-deferred increased by ¥36
million ($300 thousand) and the amount of net unrealized
holding loss on securities, net of tax increased by ¥8 million

($67 thousand).
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Significant components of deferred income tax assets and
liabilities as of March 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2003 2002 2003
Current
Deferred income tax assets:
Accrued enterprise taxes ¥ 165 ¥ 10 $ 1,373
Accrued bonuses 330 231 2,745
Other 57 46 474
Total deferred income tax assets ¥ 552 ¥ 287 $ 4,592
Non-current
Deferred income tax assets:
Employees’ severance and
retirement benefits ¥1,881 ¥1,677 $15,649
Retirement benefits for directors
and corporate auditors 330 275 2,745
Net unrealized holding loss
on securities 254 471 2,113
Other 331 328 2,754
Total deferred income tax assets 2,796 2,751 23,261
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Reserve deductible for Japanese
tax purpose (745) (968) (6,198)
Reserve for deferred gain on sales
of fixed assets for tax purpose (660) (692) (5,491)
Other (32) (35) (266)
Total deferred income tax
liabilities (1,437) (1,695) (11,955)
Net deferred income tax assets ¥1,359 ¥1,056 $11,306
Net deferred income tax assets ¥1,911 ¥1,343 $15,898

Current total deferred income tax assets are included in
“Prepaid expenses and other” in the current assets section and
non-current net deferred income tax assets are included in
“Other” in investments and other assets section on the balance
sheet as of March 31, 2003 and 2002.

Note 11—Sales to and Purchases from Subsidiaries
and Affiliates

Sales to and purchases from subsidiaries and affiliates for the

years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2003 2002 2001 2003
Sales ¥32,032 ¥30,099 ¥32,207 $266,489
Purchases 23,911 22,794 24,469 198,927

Note 12— ease Transactions
Lease transactions for the years ended March 31, 2003 and
2002 are as follows:

Finance lease transactions without ownership transfer to lessee

(a) Purchase price equivalent, accumulated depreciation
equivalent and book value equivalent:
Thousands of

Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2003 2002 2003
Machinery and equipment,
and others

Purchase price equivalent ¥1,574 ¥1,574 $13,095

Accumulated depreciation
equivalent 890 744 7,404
Book value equivalent 684 830 5,691

Purchase price equivalent is calculated using the inclusive-
of-interest method.

(b) Lease commitments:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2003 2002 2003
Due within one year ¥228 ¥246 $1,897
Due after one year 456 584 3,794
¥684 ¥830 $5,691

Lease commitments are calculated using the inclusive-of-
interest method.

(c) Lease payments and depreciation equivalent:
Thousands of

Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2003 2002 2001 2003
Lease payments ¥226 ¥235 ¥228 $1,880
Depreciation equivalent 226 235 228 1,880

(d) Calculation method of depreciation equivalent:
Depreciation equivalent is computed on a straight-line method
over the lease period without residual value.

Operating lease transactions

Lease commitments under non-cancelable operating leases for

the year ended March 31, 2003:

Thousands of
Millions of yen ~ U.S. dollars

Due within one year ¥ 39 $ 324
Due after one year 346 2,879
¥385 $3,203

There were no lease commitments under non-cancelable
operating leases at March 31, 2002.

Note 13—Effect of bank holiday on March 31, 2002
As financial institutions in Japan were closed on March 31,
2002, notes maturing on March 31, 2002 were settled on the
following business days, April 1, 2002. The amounts actually
settled on the first business day in April are as follows:

Millions of
yen
Notes receivable, trade ¥ 114
Notes payable, trade 1,373
Notes payable, other 422

Note 14—Subsequent Event
At the annual shareholders” meeting held on June 27, 2003,
the shareholders of the Company approved the following:

(a) Payment of a cash dividend of ¥6.00 ($0.05) per share to
holders of record as of March 31, 2003, or a total of ¥984
million ($8,186 thousand).

(b) Payment of bonuses to directors of ¥63 million ($524
thousand).

The 0.51% unsecured yen straight bonds in the aggregate

principal amount of ¥10,000 million ($83,195 thousand)
due in 2008 were issued by the Company on May 21, 2003.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD.:

We have audited the accompanying non-consolidated balance sheets of HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD. (a Japanese
corporation) as of March 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related non-consolidated statements of income and shareholders’ equity
for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2003, expressed in Japanese yen. These non-consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
non-consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the non-consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the non-
consolidated financial position of HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD. as of March 31, 2003 and 2002, and the non-consolidated
results of their operations for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in Japan as described in Note 1(a) to the non-consolidated financial statements.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the following.

(1) As discussed in Notes 1(b), 1(c) and 1(h) to the non-consolidated financial statements, HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS,
LTD. prospectively adopted the new Japanese accounting standards for (a) market valuation of available-for-sale securities
effective April 1, 2001 and (b) financial instruments and employees’ retirement benefits and the revised Japanese accounting
standard for foreign currency translation effective April 1, 2000.

(2) As discussed in Note 1(e) to the non-consolidated financial statements, HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD. changed
the depreciation method of machinery and equipment effective April 1, 2001.

The non-consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2003 have been translated into United
States dollars solely for the convenience of the reader. We have recomputed the translation and, in our opinion, the non-
consolidated financial statements expressed in Japanese yen have been translated into United States dollars on the basis set
forth in Note 1(a) to the non-consolidated financial statements.

Gaak 3Co

Tokyo, Japan Asahi & Co.
June 27, 2003

BB S 80





